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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

A resilient performance in an unprecedented year

| am pleased to report the financial results for the year ended 31 December 2024 for Drive Topco Limited Group and
its operating and trading business. FirsiPort Dimited and its subsidianes {collectvely "FirstPort” and the “Group™,
FirstPort 1s a teading provider of UK residential property services and aiso offers management of ressdentiai and
commerciat assets for its chent base

Drive Topeo Limited was wicorporated on 11 June 2019 and the Group was formed an 6 Seplember 2019 foliowing
the acquisstion of Knight Square Holdings Limited Geoup. which FirstPort1s a part of The financial statements on
pages 27 o 74 therefore shows comparatives for the 7 month pericd fram incarperation which includes trading for
the 4 month period since the acquisiton of Knight Square Haoldings Lirited Group on 6 September 2019

This report will provide commentary on the 2020 year and its comparatives to the 12 months performance of the
FirstPort businesses in 2018 to allow for meaningful analysis and to demonstrate the strength of the business as the
2019 Group resulits are not a fult year comparative in these financial statements.

FirstPort

As the world grappled wath the unprecedented impact of a global pandemic, | am pleased to repori that FirstPort has
been stable and resiient throughout 2020 with an unwavenig fecus on the wellbeing of customers. empicyees. and
supply chamn

FirstPort s a significant prowider of residential properly management services in the UK and has further cemented its
positon as the largest private residential property manager in what remains a highly fragmented market  With almost
290 000 homes under managemen!. across 5.000 developmants. FustPort continues to play a key role in driving
higher standards across the sector and championing a customer- st approach  FirstPon's customer senvice
performance and brand reputaticn also contnued Lo improve in 2020¢

COVID-19

FirstPort responded well to the challenges presented by COVID-19  Services continued to be delivered for
residential customers and clients with adapted operationa! strategies to respond fo changing Government guidance
Field and office-based employees adapted well to remote working and produchwity remained high  Most site-based
emplayees remained in place at developments to provide essential support for their residents in a socially dislanced
and safe way This has been especially important for FirstPort's more vulnerable residents. particularly the
retirement households it supports acrass 3.500 independent retirement commuunities  While some revenue sireams
have inevitably been delayed or impacted such as our resales servies, the business has responded prudentiy to
ensure continued high senice for customers and chents alongside a stable financial performance dunng this
unprecedented period

Market change

Changing Government guidance on buillding and fire safety has continued to present challenges for the whale
restdential property management sector  FirstPort has responded well. wilh the formation of a dedicated building
safety team o manage applications o relevant Governmen! funding streams including the coordination of
investigative and remediation works This team has been constructed to ensure resddential customers are well
supported through these processes

Group outlook

FirstPort has demaonslirated s resihence through 2020 and s well posiboned 1o successfully meet the changing
demands of an evolving indusiry landscape The business remains in a strong pasiion moving out of 2020 having
made two strategic acquisthions and a record orderbook of new business lo mobibise

The Board remains comnutted to delivenng market-leading services through excellent customer senvice. ihe
deployment of a new technalegy-enabled platform soon, and outstanding employee engagement  FirstPort s ready
to further budld wpon its posiion as a leading resdential service pravider

Paul Lester CBE

Chairman

30 April 2021
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Our 2020 strategic development paves the way to achieving our growth potential

Principal activities

FistPort is one of the UK's largest residental property services business, with over 40 years' expenence and a
large satisfied customer base. Our principal actvily can be segmented inta two key areas.

+  Qurresidential offerings which encompasses procuring and delivenng services to residental custorners in
communal devetopments — from blocks of apariments 1o estates of houses

*  Our clent-based affering which encompasses the management of residential and commercial assets for aur
investor client base Additional services offered in this segment include ground rent collection consuiting.
surveying, lettings, and resales services

Cur purpose

FirstPort's pnmary objective is to ensure that residents hving in developments it manages. are safe and well-served
within the legislative regime  Our 3.800 employees help us achieve our objactives daily. caring for the places our
customers call home They do ther upmost fo ensure that buildings where our residents live and share with their
neighbours are safe, clean, and comfortable Customers don't have to worry about finding the right supplier,
getting the best deal working out how 10 spint the biil with their neighbours or making sure there's enough money
in their developmeant’'s bank account to pay for everything — FirstPort manages all of that so our customers can get
on with enjoying their homes and communities

For cur investor clients, cur approach s centered around supporting their residents and the assets they own We
provide regutar updates through our reporting tools to ensure investors have accurate and up to date information to
make the decisions they need Whether we are managing a customer's home or a clients’ asset. we seek to
nurlure straong relationships with all stakeholders to aic understanding and support their needs

Cur operating model

Since the acquisition of Mainstay in September 2020. FirstPort's business is structured into two main operating
divisions that are mdependent from each other with their own leadership team. brand, and policies — residential
services, and cammercial and asset management

The residential services division (s delivered under the FirstPort brand {Business to Consumer) and consists of six
eperatonal areas of focus that each care for their specific residential customer in ifs own unique way with its own
dedicated team to dehiver a high guality service for that segment The operational areas are, Luxury Large and
Complex, Property Services, Estates, Build Te Rent delivery. and Retirement

The commerciai and asset management division 1s delivered under the Mainstay brand (Business to Business).
acts independently and provides confidence to aur client base that ther assets are in safe hands  Under this
divisron a range of services are provided which include commercial faciities management. residential asset
management and residential market services (ground rent eoflections build-to-rent operatons lettings and saies)

Both divisions are suppoerted by centralised professienal in-house teams that provide their expertise across a wide
range of areas to ensure that customers and clients receive the exceptional service required

Market backdrop

FirstPort 15 the largest private residential properly manager. with a portfolio of 230,000 homes across 5,000
developments There are an estimated 5.3 milhion leasehold homes in Engtand, of which 65% are managed. The
Government has set a target for new builds annually at circa 0 3 miilion per annum  The target 1s expected to be
achieved in the future with ali measures indicating that housing demand in the UK remains high thus highlighting
the growth potential of the UK nousing market
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As a result of the COVID- 19 pandemic, most of the country spent mare time at home in 2020 than ever before
The importance of having a well-managed home environment and the positive benefits of communities have never
been clearer FirstPort adapted its approach to meet guidelines on safety and wellbeing but ensured where
possible that community spirit and on-going management of common areas continued. As such, FirstPori s well
postioned to continue to grow. supporting residential customers in both new builld and existing communities who
value a professional approach to the management of their homes

Residential Market

While the national respanse to COVID-19 earlier in 2020 inevitably slewed the new build market due to construction
and sales shutdowns. this picked up agam during the second haif of the year as the country adapted to the 'new
normal’  Most new build developments take several years to complete and unwind into active management,
meaning FirstPort's new build orderbook continued to mobilise in 2020 despite delays

The Government's stamp duty haliday also stmulated increased demand and consumer confidence, with the
number of sales agreed in 2020 up 10% compared to 2019. While it remains to be seen whether this demand will
be sustained after the stamp duty holiday ends in June, it seems unhkely that house buying activity wili slump as the
country recovers from the impact of COVID-15

Building and fire safety remains a priority

Sector-wide challenges refating to bullding and fire safety have continued. with an anbicipated 1 27m flats across
the UK impacted by changing Government guidance with many leaseholders now required to obtain an External
Wall System fue review form {"EWS1) As a result some unpacted leaseholders are struggling to re-mortgage or
sel! their hormes with an estimated 30,000 house sales having alieady fallen through as a result  FirstPort. like
property managers across the country, sees first-hand the custoiner concerns and frustrations as these legacy
safety 1ssues are tackled

As of February 2021, the Gavernment has committed to making a total of £5bn funding available to help impacled
leaseholders in buildings over 18 metres in height to remediate their buildings in Line with these standards
However it is yet to be seen if this wilt be sufficient  For buildings under 18 metres. funding is not avarlable and at
present the Government is suggesting the offering of a loan scheme for impacted leaseholders

FirstPort’s sector leading health and safety expertise has underpinned our respanse to these challenges, and a
separate building safety team has been formed to support both customers and clents  The business made 173
registrations to the non-ACM remediation fund on behalf of bullding owners and leaseholders  While the Fund
conbinues to assess registrations during 2021. FustPort's response and approval rate for apphcations s tracking
above the natienal average This is a positive step forward for leasehaiders. but inewitably due to the size of the
fund and number of buitdings submitted nationally. the outcome remains uncertain  We are working hard to
support all those Impacted dunng this uncertam and challenging time  Our prionty is the safety of cur residents and
we will be daing all we can to help them work through their funding outcome and any necassary remediation of their
building including ongoing engagement with Government and across the sector to seek helpfu! and practicabie
solutions

In 2020, FirstPort's building safety team aiso successfully secured over 1 100 new EWS1 forms for more than 440
residential developmants in our care. positively impacting aver § 100 homes at these sites and enabling many of
these customers to Move or remorigage

National awareness of these challenges has significantly increased in 2020. with media campaigns teling the very
human stories of impacted leaseholders and seeking positive change ta unlock this situation  The sector's industry
bodies. FirstPort and other leading property managers. are continuing to work together with all parties including
lobbying Government to seek practical solutions and support for leasehoiders

Regulatory Reform

Government momentum towards possible changes to the leasehold system has continued aiong with
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consideration of future regulation for managing agents. The driver for these reforms 1s increased supgort for
consumers, gving leasehclders greater say over how ther developments are run and greater confidence in the
organisations’ managing therr homes

While leasehold reform wilt ikely give residents greater responsibibty in the future. complex residential buildings
and developments will gontinue to need professional managers with a range of skills and weil-trained staff working
to high standards. FirstPart atready looks after more than 1,000 resident managed developments estimated ta be
the largest resident managed portfolic in the UK In a recent survey conducted with some of cur resident directors,
79% of respondents indicated that their property manager was their first point of call for support and advice  Trust,
quality, and service also ranked as most important to respondents when it came to their managing agent.

These findings confirm that FirstPart 1s well placed to support customers with the management of their
developments both now and in the future and we have long welcomed greater resident engagement and
invalvement

Mandatory reguation of managing agents also presents an opportunity for FirstPort  Having embraced voluntary
regulation via ARMA-Q accreditaticn many years ago, we already work 1o the high standards that the whole sector
1s lkety to be held to in due course We are supportive of this drive towards sector-wide regutation, which wil
undoubtedly set higher standards and give consumers much needed trust and confidence in the services delivered
by professional property managers Some market consolidation can be expected as a resuit of these on-going
reforms. which represents an oppeortumity for acquisitive growth and professionalisation

COVID-19 response

FirstPort's respanse to COVID-19 has proven the business to be both steadfast and adaptable The business
adapted its approach rapidly to make sure it could still deliver services 1o customers and clents in a safe and
comphant way. An executive response group has been in place and meeting frequently since early March 2020 to
manage the business’ response to COVID-1% This group continues to meet weekly to ensure any adaptations to
the business’ approach in respanse ta the changing situation and Government advice can be discussed agreed,
and mplemented at pace

Despite the challenges presented by COVID-19. FirstPort has remained resilient with stable year-cn-year adjusted
EBITDA and cash gengration, continued organic and acquisitive growth, and on-going impravements to custemer
sentiment and brand reputation

Our site-based staff remained in place throughout the pandemic to provide critical services for residents making
sure that their development continued to run safely and smocthly The presence of our on-site teams has been
impartant. We adapted our management approaches to make sure we could deliver our services while keeping
both our employees and residents safe Every development is different from amenities to concierge desks and
parcel rooms. meaning there was no “one size fits all approach Our operations teams have worked hard to apply
corporate and Government guidance to their developments to ensure that a suitably adapted approach was in place
for every property in our care.

For our most vulnerable residents in the retirement communities we manage. our employees went above and
beyond for their customers. We introduced enhanced cleaning regimes, as well as visitor and communal space
restrictions well ahead of the first national lockdown in March 2020 to make sure our residents were protected. Our
retirement development managers have remained an site to support thair customers throughout the pandemic and
have adapted their routines to make sure social distancing and hygiene measures were in place

We alsa recogrised that isolation and ioneliness was likely to prove as much of a challenge to the residents as the
physical nsks presented by COVID-19, particularly while communal lounges were shut for safety reasons  Cur
development managers continued to check in on all their custormers regularly, making cails to restdents’
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apartments rather than physically visiting, and we shared weekly wntten updates with our retirement customers.
along with packs of puzzles and crosswords for those who wanted something to help keep them entertained Our
regufar relirement magazine and videos atsc provided helpful diet and exercise tips, as well as interesting anicles

FirstPart's office and field-based employees also adapted well to their change in working patterns At the start of
the pandemic. the business rapidly mobilised to enable remote working for all these staff, including those working in
our customer coniact centres  Praductivity remained high and employees demonstrated a continued comemtment
to delivering excellent customer and chent service  Employees have been surveyed and the majority have indicated
a preference towards a flexible working approach post-COVID-19 combining increased home working as well as
some time in the office As a result, we are continuing to assess our office footprints and environments with cur
future working patterns in mund

Five-star Health and Safety

in 2015, FirstPort was the first organisation within the property management sector to achigve a five-star rating from
the British Safety Council Five years later, we have achieved our fifth consecutive five-star rating in our
Occupational Health and Safety Audit in 2020, as well as receving the British Safety Council's prestigious Sword of
Honour 1n 2019. recognising excellence in health and safety management

When looking after people’'s homes. safety is of the utmost importance  These assessments of our health and
safety performance have consistently recognised the embedded cullure across our organisation a clear
comrmitment from semor management an enthusiastc health and safety team and good processes for stakenalder
engagement, comphance monitoring and building management. We take our obligatians for safely across office,
operational. and development sites very senously along with the risks to staff travelling between locations  These
obhgations extend to staff, residents. visitors contractors, and members of the public  Risks are mitigated by our
strang heaith and safety culture. a safety nsk register continuous monitoring and reporting of accidents and near
misses.

Acquisitive Growth

FisiPort has continued to grow mn 2020 making two strategic acquisitons that further strengthens its position as
sector leader On 15 September 2020. FirstPort acquired 100% of the share capitai of the Mainstay Group
{*Mainstay’) and on 2 December 2020. 100% of the share capital of the Chamonix Group {"Chamonix’] The
combined acquisitions added approximately 92.000 homes to the Group. and we aim to ensure that their residents
benefit from the combined skills that will be nurtured together to deliver their service  Costs associated with the
transactians can be found in the excepticnal spend hughhghted in the profit and loss account

In a fragmented market that 1s undergoing regulatary scrutiny for the nght reasons. we feel that # 1s important that
the varied skill sets in the market are combined where possible Our aim in doing sa. is to provide continuity for
those smaller organisations that may struggle with ongaing regulatory change and increased standards whilst
harnessing their capabilities 1o provide customers and clients with professicnal management  FirstPort. though the
largest UK property manager, remains a small proportion of the market so the potential to support othars whilst
retaining customer choice, 1s attainable

Tech-enabled future of FirstPort

FirstPart has continued to invest in technology throughout 2020 via our comprehensive transfarmation programme
The first phase is due to complete and roll-out in 2021 with additional functionality and services being added at later
stages

Our principles when embarking on this approach was ta truly become a connected enterprise add value to all
stakeholders, customers chents, supplers. and employees We seek to differentiate ourselves through the
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platform being built by connecling stakeholders seamtessly and in ways and at imes that are convement to them
The data access and improved communication wilt improve significantly making responding to the challenges our
sector faces easier to adapt to  However. we have been clear that this isn't just a tech-enabled approach so
lhrough our design phases we have sought to remove the administrative burden our service dictates aliowing our
colleagues to spend more time on proactive engagement with customers and chents to ultimately deliver a market-
leading service thal Ihey deserve  We feel lhis technology enabled but people first approach brings a unique and
distinctive blend of caring for homes backed by helpful technclogy that bast responds to medem hfestyles

Our People

We recognise that our people play a leading role in our service delivery and are central to how our brand s
experienced in homes ang in society n 2620, we had the privilege of welcoming new colleagues from Mainstay
and Chamonix, taking us o over 3.800 employees by the end of the year Whule cur people cover a wide range of
skills and disciplines. they are united n their professionatism and dedication to doing the ngnt thing for their
customers

Qur cammitment to our employees has again been recagnised by the Top Employers Institule Following a

ngorous assessment in late 2020 FirstPort has been named one of the UK's 2021 Top Employers ~ a prestigious
certification which we have now achieved for the third consecutive year. This accreditation, alongside our 4 2 oul
of 5 rating on employee review site. Glassdoor, sets FirstPort apart from our competitors as a true industry leader

We aperatg a robust and active equal opporturity policy. and pnde eurselves on our diverse workforce. Qur
employees successfully bring together different competencies. skills and specizisms educational backgrounds.
ethiicty. religicus betiefs and physical abthties, and we judge performance without prejudice or discrimination Al
celleagues are welcomed and supporied m our inclusive culture  Our policy enables and sugports the recruitment
of disabled workers We provide assislance needed wih inltial training and we adapt the workplace as
appropnate

As a business. we consult and discuss wath employees both individually and collectively. about any mallers lixely
to impact their interests  We value open communicatian with important information and updates shared with
employees through regular news bulletins, as well as monthly CEQ and executive updates. to ensure all gur
employees are aware of any factors affecting our business.

We understand the imporance of welibeing. and that this has been more important than ever in such an
unprecedented year Cur employees mental health and wellbeing are supported through our Employee
Assistance Programme, as well as colleagues trained as Mental Health First Aiders. During COVID-19, regular
communications and addiliona! support have been provided to employees across the business. fram shanng
information on avaiable mentat health resources to tips for home-schooling parents

Ve piace great importance on making sure cur employees are tramned and develop thew potential Qur
management process helas {o requiarly identfy any adddional training that may be required to help employees
pursue and remain competent for their roles  Our e-iearming platform includes training modules designed ta make
sure we all. actin a lawful and compliant way while conducting day 1o day duties this includes data pnvacy. ank-
brnbery and anti-money laundenng. modern siavery and heaith and safely legislation For fugh risk topics.
employees are required to complete this training annually  To suppor employee growth onhine training modules
also cover a range of development topics, from beconung a grea! leader through to how to mentor and ceach
others

Our investment i our people has corinued. despite the challenges presented by 2020, and e-learning has
become even more important than ever with our leading on-boarding prograrmme adapted for our oniine learming
environment, Our weil-estabiished mentor/mentee programme has continued, giving employees new apportunites
to develap. learn new skills and progress thewr careers at FirstPort  We also conlinued to suppart our employees
lo pursue relevant professional qualifications particularly with the Institute of Residential Properly Management
(IRPM)
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We welcomed the fifth annual intake of our successful graduate scheme in September 2020, giving seven
graduates the opportunity to become residential property managers at the end of their 12-month programme. Each
graduate is given an executive mentor, providing invaluabfe senior suppart and guidance as they embark on ther
careers. Despite COVID-19. we were proud to welcome a similar size graduate cohort to narmal and while the
scheme had to be adapted to faciitate increased home working. the graduates are still performing well in their
placements.

Financial and operational performance

FirstPort's 2020 results have been pleasing especially in a year that brought unprecedentad challenges for the UK
and Global economies We have seen a steady and resilient performance with a small improvement financially
year on year based an adjusted EBITDA. but what has made me exceptonaily proud. 15 the manaer in which we
managed operationaily, the dedication our teams demonstrated to customers and clients. and the minimal
disruption created in service through their commiment We had strict gquidelines to foliow, our customer base has
been very understanding and in return we built strong relattonships that helped us emerge more agile. more
energetic, and more custamer focused than ever before

Our sector has seen challenges addihonal to COVID-12 that impacted normal business operations  These
challenges encompass areas such as the new buitding safety regime. the slow-down in the housing market in
garhier 2020 and the requirement of an EWS1 form for leaseholders selling or re-mortgaging their homes
However. our scate and financial dynamics helped us invest in areas that needed the additional resource and
flexibility 1n areas that expenenced temparary downturns  The lessons tearnt from 2020 have been positive for the
buswess and the agility created in our aperations should heip us pursue future growth opportunites  Our balance
sheet remains in a strang position and our bquidty has performed as expected and remains posiive for the
foreseeable future We understand we are fortunate to have such positive dynamics and explain more detart on
our finangial performance on page 9

Social Responsibility
Ethical standards and principles

Ethics and transparency are integral {0 how we do business. and the cornerstones of our cosporate principles  We
have strang corporate policies and safeguards in place, and a frack record of abiding by and promating high ethical
standards  All our emptoyees are responsiple for adhering to our business practices. which follow both the letter
and the spirit of the law, as well as our Code of Conduct that reflects the highest standards of corporate and
individual behaviour

Centrepaint

We recognise and take seriously our responsibility to positively impact the quality of life of our employees. therr
families and the wider communities in which we operate  Following an employee vote in 2018 Centrepoint. a
leading youth homelessness chanty, was selected as our carporate chanty partner. Since our pastnership began in
December 2018. FirstPort has raised maore than £91 000 for Centrepoint
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Cutlook

The alignment of increzsed customer empowerment higher safely and professional standards, the prospect of
connected technology, and a culture of caring for people’s horme envirorments, creates unique opportunities.
Backed by a financial resilience that withstood the global economic challengas of 2020, means we remain posiive
about the prospects ahead

Nigel Howell
Director
30 Apni 2021
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Group financial performance

2020 2019 Change
£'000 £'000 %
Revenue 86 786 60814 10%
Adjusted EBITDA 13.484 12 803 5%

Revenue and adjusted EBITDA for the 2019 year has been taken from the 2019 Knight Square Holdings Limited
Group financial statements (continuing operations only as this relates to FirstPort) fo allow for a 12 month
comparative analysis

The 2020 year has been unlike any other due to the unprecedented COVIR-19 global pandemic  Social ang
economic lockdowns along with restrictions for much of the year have led to uncertamnties for most businesses
across the UK and around the world  The impact of such events has gone beyond financial results. so the focus
was to maintain stabilty and support the various stakeholders of our business. During this penod. the Group
penefited from s resilent charactenstics with revenue streams and adjusted EBITDA largely stable compared to
prior year. Some discretronary cost reductions have been put in place to help soften the impacst of market effected
areas and we did carry out some restructuring to help us emerge leaner and more agile far the future  The Group
remained cash generative in these challenging conditions with a very stable balance sheel and hiquidity prefile

The change in the economic climate alse enabled management {o conduct an in-depth review of the businesses
cast base and its resources to ensure it remains relevant to the requirements of both the current and future LUK
environment  The result of the review re-shaped the Groups fixed cost base with fewer paper transactions
occurnng. a reduced office tootpnnt and a flexible 'new way of working’ for its employees These changes have
meant permanent efficiencies are now in place and more benefits will be derved in the following year More
impgortantty, the agile approach will mean an enhanced level of service for cur customers which will only improve
further when our new systems rolt out in 2021

Health and safety continue to be the Group's top prionty. and changes to regutation required the Group to invest
sigarficantly in speciic areas to help manage the increased complexity Such changes include the Buidding Safety
Fund Waking Watch Fund and External Wall System (EWS1) processes  We understand that legislative changes
have caused concern for our customers and clients, and our investment has been made to help equip the business
reduce such concerns as best as we can

Revenue

Group revenues for 2020 were £66 8m. showing an increase of 10% on priar year (2019 £60 8m}  Growth came
from acquisitions. with Mainstay trading for three and a half months and Chamonix for one  In addition to buillding
on the core base of FirstPant Mainstay prowided new revenue streams in the commerciai and assel management
space as well as an expanded client base This provides a great platform $o build on these new preducts and
extend our reach across the propenly market Qrganic growth was ewident in the underlying business when the
impact of COVID-191s removed COVID-19 impacted areas were largely the vanabie revenug streams that
correlate to market conditons, and we expect these to largely return n 2021

The growth can be clearly seen from the units under management. increasing to 290 GO0 in the year from 196 000
n 2019 Mebilisations performed especially well given the closures that took place, and acquisttions added 92,000
uais which came online duning the last quarter of the year The full year revenue impact of the acgquired unils will
be seen in 2021, The record order baok of 85.00C units as at December 2020 further demonstrates the long-term
heaith of the business, with recard organic wins of 17,000 unus in the year

Adjusted EBITDA

The Geoup's adjusted EBITDA for 2020 was £13 5m. representing an annual increase of 5% from £12 8mn 2019
Acquisitive growth has been the main contributor Justifying additona$ investment made m this area with the
acgwisition of Mainstay and Chamonix. which brought a broader skiil set across the Group in addition to increased
adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA excludes interest expense. taxation. depreciation, amorlisation loss on dispasal of assets
exceptional items & share based payments
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Exceptional items and loss before taxation

Exceptional items of £2.8m in 2020 are one-off in nature and manly relate to the integration of acquisitions along
with restructuring costs following a management review of the business After exceptional items depreciation,
amortisation. and interest charges explained betow the Group incurred a loss before taxation of £13 4m (four-
month trading period ending 2019, £5 7Tm)

Interest

The interast charge for year was £11 7m {2019, £3 4m}. made up of £6 1m {2019 £1.6m) interest on bank loans
and another £5 6m (2019. £1 6m) of interest on shareholder Joans  The interest charge represents a full year in
comparison to a four-month trading pencd in 2019 hence the increase However, the Group has also increased
borrowing levels during 2020 to support growth  The shareholder loan interest was not payable in 2020 as it
accrues an an annual basis

Taxation

The tax charge n the year of £0 6m reflects the tax impact of non-tax-deductible expenses of £2 2m and effect of
tax rate changes of £1.2m The deferred tax lability balance of £15 1m mainly represents the deferred tax hability
arisen from the acquisition of Knight Square Holdings Group in 2019 and the acquisitions of Mainstay and
Chamonix in 2020

10
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Group financial poesition

Intangible assets

As at 31 December 2020, total intangible assets balance was £163.3m (2019 £119.0m), consisting of £72 0m n
goodwill (2019, £51 2m). £67.5m in customer refationships (2019, £54 8m), £10 3m sn brands (2019 £7.5m) and
£13 6m In software costs (2019: £5 bm} Software ¢osts relate ta intellectual property created from the digital
transformation program which is due fo be rolled out in 2021. The increase n goodwill, customer contracts and
brand resuited from the acquisitions Mainstay's customer contracts were valued at £11 8m, brands at £3 2m and
goodwill at £17 2m as at the date of acqussition  Chamonix had customer cantracts valued at £7.3m. brands at
£0 5m and goodwill at £6 5m

Net liabilities position

The Group's net hiabslittes were £19.6m {2018 £5 6m), reflecting the foss after tax in the year and an increase i
net current liabilities shown below.

Current assets and liabilities

The net current habilties are £7.9m {2019 £3 7m). driven by contractual relationships where fees are caliected in
advance, and the utilisaticn of the Govaernment VAT deferment scheme  These will unwind largely in the 2021
financral year

Borrowings and cash

The Group increased its loan faciites during 2020 to a £105 2m (2019 £871.7m) facilty with NatWest and
Pemberton The increase in facilites continues to be aligned within the Group's capacity and servicing
capabilities

As at 31 December 2020 the total debt held was £97.7m (2019 £64 2m} with a cash baiance of £7 6m (2019

£4 8m) which resulted in net debt of £90.1m {2018 £59 6m) The Group has one class of shareholder loan noie
in Issue at the balance sheet date. with a principal of £61 4m (2019 £51 0m) and accrued Interest of £7 2m (2018,
£1.6m) Shareholder loan notes of £10.4m were 1ssued in the year !ssue of ordinary shares resulted 0 proceeds
of £0 1m in the year

Cash fiow and covenants

Cash balances are managed m ine with financing and working capital requirements of the Group’s trading
businesses The Group ensures that its suppliers are paid in a timely mannet and are in-hing with agreed
contractual terms  The Group enjoyed a good stable iquidhity profie in 2020 thus enabling it 1o continue to service
its debts and supplers in a normal manner Cash generated from its operations for 2020 was £12 2m (2619
outflow £11 5m) which 1s another strong sign of stabiity in an uncertain year for the UK economy

Fhe tota! cash outflow for investing activities was £45 8m (2019 £34 1m) representing the consideraticn paid on
the acquisitons of Mainstay and Chamonrx along with the continued invesiment in the Group's digital
transformation prograrm Cash inflow frem financing activities in the Group was £36 7m (2019 £50.56m) refiecting
an increase in borrowings and shareholder loans

As a Group we continue to be diigent in monitoring banking covenants which are forecasted manthly and tested
each quarter. We have comfortably exceeded all covenant requirements for the quarters ended, inciuding 31
December 2020
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STRATEGIC REPORT - PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The Group's principal nsks and uncertainties are set out 1n the tabie below together with their potenbal impact on

our business and the measures we take to manage and mitigate them

Risk

Risk Description

Mitigation

Health and safety
{"H&S")

The nsk of breaches of H&S standards
resuiting in injuries, environmental damage
or physical damage to property leading to
financial penaltes reputational damage
and delays to site related actwities

Dedicated H&S team under the guidance of
skilled H&5 Director

Robust H&S culture with safety risk register

Contract retention

The risk associated to the dependency on
xey chent/customer contracts and the loss
of contracts

Delivery of high-quahty customer service
under standardised ‘four piliars’ approach
Maintaining a regular  dialogue with
mdividual and business customers
Commitment to the principles set out in its
Customer Charter

Reputation

The rsk of damage to brand name or
reputation either through our pecple our
behaviors. or third parhies acting on our
behaif

Improvement in customer service and clear
complaints processes reduce the nsk of
1ssues escalating

Momitoring and responding to customer
feedback on employees and third party
suppher services

Policies and whistle-blower hotline

Economic fisks and
changes in market

Falure to respend  effectively to
deveiopments n the broader economy.

Resifient UK based business model
Significant experience and expertise In

dynamics competition and other market or fiscal chosen markets
dynamics. including Brexit and the COVID-] «  Frequent review of competiticn
19 pandemic *  Market insight and inteligence
Financial Failure to mantain appropriate financialf ¢ Experienced finance team
management controls throughout the business. including| e  Financial control environment
the management of debl covenants. creditl o ciose monitoning of financial performance.
rigk. fraud risk and taxation debt covenants and credit nsk by semor
management
* Board oversight of financial perfarmance
Systems The risk associated with the non- delivery} ¢ Investment in appropnate technolegy and

dependence and
business continuity

and future-proofing of our technology.
including the potential impact of business
interruption through systems and facilites

staff

IT governance structure

IT resillence and disaster recovery pians
designed to restore service

Business continuity plan for each business
operatonal office

Cyber securty accreditation
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Risk Risk Description Mitigation
Legal and regulatory The risk of failing to comply with] * Employment of guaified advisors both
compliance relevant  [aws, regulations  and internally and externally who report regularly
Standards including AML. CCO. 1o the Board about all significant legislative
Gender Pay Reporting and Modern changes in the UK
Slavery « Development of internal pohcies and
procedures to ensure adequate capture of]
lega! and regulatory complance 1ssues
+« Maintenance of risk register for alt current
regulatory issues
+ Training programmes for staff
People Risk The risk that we fail to attract and| = HR stategy encompassing  recruitment,

retain high calibre employees in order
to detfiver on all aspects of our strategy

reward, retention talent developmen! and
parformance management

Successon planning for mddle and senor
managemant

Regular review of top
aorganisation segardless of
executive members

talent m the
level by all

Data prolection and
privacy risk

The risk of the loss or misuse of
customer or employse data

information security policies encoempassing
data protection

Investment in appropnate lechnology and
staf

General data protection regulation (GDFR)
steenng committee

Breach register and |CO regsstration
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STRATEGIC REPORT - GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

FCR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Board and Board Committees
Governance
Our Group 1s privately owned and as of 31 December 2020 had a board comprising of six directors

Gur Chairman, P J Lester. has responsivility for the Board and N Howell Chief Executive Officer. executes the
Group's strategy and commercial objectives and implements the decisions of the Board

Operation of the Board

Qur Board meets at least ten times each year to review the Group's siralegy and performance Executive
management are regularly invited to attend Board meetings. as appropniate  Health and safety performance. along
with key risks and obligations are reviewed and considered at cur Board meetings

Committees of the Board
Audit Committee

Qur Group s Audit Committee is made up of three non-executive directars comprised of P J Lester (Chair -
independent), T Swales (shareholder representative). and | Boman-Flaveil (shareholder representative) The Audn
Commities 1s scheduled to meet at leas! twice a year to review our results and internal controls

Our external auditors are also invited to attend the Audit Comimittee meetings to report thew findings

Remuneration Committee

We have a Group Remuneration Committee made up of three non-Executive directars - P J Lester (Chair} T
Swales. and } Boman-Flavell The Committee meets at least twice a year to review Executive Director opjectives,
pay rises bonuses and discuss pay rates, as required

Internal control and risk management

Our approach to internal control is delivered through senior management oversight via a dedicated internal
governance and compliance team The two responsible Executive Directors hold monthly internal cantrol meetings
with the governance team based on the Board's agreed nsk framewark, mitigating strateg:es. and the Iatest status
of the risks  Any changes or matters of concern are reponted to the full Board As a Group we also maintain and
monitor a set of detailed policy documents across all areas of our operatiens. including health and safety
precurement, finance, and governance {inciuding competition and bribery) We use the support of external experts
to conduct ad hoc reviews of spacific areas of the business that the Board considers may present sigruficant risk

Independent auditors

Qur auditers, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have imdicated therr willingness to continue in office and a resolution
for their re-appointment will be proposed at the Annuat General Meeting
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Financial risk management

The Group's operations expose us to a vanety of financial nsks that include the effects of credit. liquidity. cashflow
and mierest rale sk There are robust contrels it place 1o it any adverse impact on our Group's performance by
monitaring potent:al financial risks. Given the business’ size, the Directers have not delegated the responsibifity of
manitoring financial risk management to a sub-committee of the Board.

Our Group's exposure to interest rate nsk was assessed by management and considered low We have a large base
of UK residential and commercial customers. which reduces the conrcentration of credit nsk. Where we transact with
corporate customers. our credit control teams folfow strict processes for managing and mitigating the nisk of non-
payment of charges

The Group has cash management and forecasting processes in place to manage cashfiow and kquidity within our
existing financing

Streamiined Energy and Carbon Repoerting

We have been working with the Carbon Trust since 2018, whose mission 1s {o help organisations accelerate the
delivery of a sustainable low carbon economy. The Carbon Trust s helping us review our carban footprint and have
granted us ISO 140013, This demonsirates the Group s on-going commitment to reduce our environmental impact.
with further plans already in place to build an the pasitive wark done 1n 2020

We measured our total greenhouse gas emissions across the five FustPort offices, directly and indirectly. to cover a
12-month period between 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 This ensured comphance with the UK
Government's Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) regime  applicable to al large businesses with a
reporiing penod staring after 1 Aprd 2018

FirstPort’s energy use and associated GHG emissions from electricity and fuel acress sur five UK offices can be
found :n the table below along with scope calculations aligned o the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Withia this protacal
we have chosen an operational control approach and have used the UK government emission factors for 2020 for all
oUT BIMISSION SOUFCES

2020 Energy usage 2020 Emissions
{(kWh) {kgCO2e)
Electneity (scope 2) 858.307 200.108
Naturai gas (scope 1) 121.033 32,189
Transport fuels - company vehicles (scope 1) 84,479 20.391
Transport fuels - grey fleet {scope 3) 1.920.671 476.197
2,984,480 728,883
. Emission Factor L.
Vehicte Type Fuel Type Kg CO2/kWh Energy Use KWh Emissions (kgCO2Y
Fleet Cars Diesel 001116 1,259 14
Fieet Cars Petrol 000765 83,220 637
Grey Fleet Cars” Diesel 001116 960.335 10,717
Grey Fieet Cars® Petrol 000765 960 335 7.347

“Note. A 50.50 Petrol Diesel spht was used

Vehicle emussions were only measured in 2020 and not in 2019

15



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT - GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2019 Energy usage

2019 Emissions

(kWh} {kgCO2Ze}
Electricity (scope 2) B41.296 215.035
Naturai gas (scope 1) 242,210 44 530
Transpart fucis  company vehicles (scope 1) 614 734 150,485
Transport fuels - grey fleet (scope 3} 3.145.530 748066
4,843,770 1,158,116

2020 carbon emission intensity

Benchmark value
(FTE staff members)
1.068

Intensity benchmark
Carbon emisstons intensity per staff member (kgCO2e/FTE)

2019 carbon emission intensity
Benchmark value

(FTE staff members)
g12

Intansity benchmark
Carbon emissions intensity per staff member (kgCO2e/FTE)

As in 2019, refrigeration ennssions for 2020 are 0 50 have been omitled.

Emissions intensity
{kgCO2efstaHf FTE)
682

Emissions intensity
(kgCO2efstaff FTE)
1426

We have continued our commitment ta reducing our business’ carbon footprint. with all measures reducing
from 2019 Specific actions taken in 2020 include LED and automated lighting n our office spaces, moving
to a ‘greener’ energy. evaluation of renewable energy technologies. reducing buillding supply capacity and

improving overall awareness on climate change We strive to further embed our environmental secial and

corporate responsibiliies inte our culture and expect improvernants to extend into 2021
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Statement on the Directors” performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172 (1) Companies
Act 2006 (centinued)

The Enrectors of our Group act in accordance with a set of general duties. which are detailed m the UK Companies
Acl 2006. These include a duty to promate the success of the Group for the benefit of its members as a whole and
lo consider {amongst other matters)

+  The likely consequences of any decisicn in the fong term

*  The interests of the Group's employees.

* The need to foster the Group's business relationships with supphers customers and others.

*  The impact of the Group's operations on the community and the environment,

*  The desirability of the Groug maintaimng a reputation for high standards of business conduct. and
*  The need to act fairly as between members of the Group

Qur Directars are briefed annually on ther duties and Ihey caa access professional advice either through the
Group or. an independent pravider. as required.

The Board has reviewed thew current approach to corporale governarce and decision making. engagement with
stakeholders and their impact on the environment  How the Board futfils its duties under Seckion 172 (1)18
summarised as follows.

Decision-making

The Board meets monthly with our serior executive management team to discuss key 1ssues and to make sure thal
stralegic plans are followed Key actions are taken and cammuricated to the senior management leam reguiarly
along with the wader business to ensure transparency and to mamtain focus on the business’ key strategic goals A
monthly ‘Businass Buzz' wideo s dislnbuted on the Group's internal platfonn where the Chief Execulive Qfficer and
other key Senior Managers cascade important messages to all empioyees

The Board undertakes an in-depth review of the Group's sirategy annually. based on a 5-year business plan The
approved plan then forms the strategic drection of the business with amendments made as and when necessary
dunng the rewews The plan and strategy ferm the basis for financial budgets resource plans and invesiment
decisions When making decisions relating ta the business plan and fulure strategy. the Beard takes o
consideration a vanety of malters including the interest of vanous stakeholders. the conseguences of its decisions
11 lhe long-term and Ws reputation. For more informatian on our strategic developmenis in 2020 see pages 2- §

The Boarg alsa maintains overstght of our performance and enswres that cur management (s acting in accorgdance
with our strategy and plan  They also dentify. evaluate. manage and mitigate any risks we face Details of these
are covered on pages 12 ang 13

Principal decislons

On 25 March 2020. the UK Government announced a national lockdown in response (o the corona wirus (COVID-
19} pandemic. The lockdown ncluded a stay-at-home order and the banned non-essential travel The Board
consiered the lnckdown rules and guidance and determined that Ihe majority of its workforce can work remotely
Further funding was made available to the investment in IT equipment to aid belter remote working The Board
approved flexbie working for colleagues that could work from home and ensured essential travel documentaton be
made available for colleagues that were required 1o travel

The Group has invested 1n the devetopment of new fechnologies to Improve the service delivery across the entirg
organisation The Board considers innovation of better technologies o be a key priority where il can ennance the
service delivery of our operational teams and streamiine processes to make them more efficient As a result the
Board approved further investment i its digital programyme

Dunng the year. opportunities to acquire new businesses into the Group have been presented to the Board The
Board takes into consideration their direcier s duties. notably their duty to promote the success of the business.
when evaluating acquisition opportuniies Other key considerations are factored in such as determiming whether
new cpportunities can pravide comphmentary growth to the Group's existing service offerings
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Qur Pecple

Qur employees are central to 1he long-term success of the Group and as such the board ensures it has means of
engaging to undersiand their views and interests. Curing the COVID-19 pandemic to protect our employees and
comply with national iaw, the Group made the decisian to allow the majority of its workforce to work fram home and
provided further investment in remote working technologies Our main offices were assessed by our Health &
Safely team and made available and comphant with social distancing rules for those employees who required
access The Group mitends to maintain flexibihty with remote working 1o allow colleagues 1o choose how they wish
to work

A seclion dedicated to Our People is included in the monthly Board report to ensure the Board 15 regularly updated
on key emplayee matlers  Core lapics in the report for Board considerabon include employee relations, absences
and employee turnaver. training and development, communications. employee profiles. and Glassdoor ratings  For
2020 some key information around furlough and COVID- 19 absences was also included to assess the overall
impact of the pandemic to employees This provides the Board with regular updates and trends on key people
metrics and gives comfort that the people strategy 15 being well receved both internally and externally

Durning the COVID-19 pandemic. to protect our employeas and comply with national law. the Group made the
decision to allow the majority of its workforce 1o work from home andg provided further nvestment in remote working
technologies Our main offices were assessed by our Health & Safely team and made avanable and comgpliant with
sccial distancing rutes for those employees who required access  Following employee surveys held in 2020 that
yietded a favourable view towards long term flexible working the Board decided to reduce affice space and
mamamn the new way of workings pest COVID-19.

Development of new lechnologies continued throughout 2020 and the roll out of this in 2021 will have a significant
impact to employees. bath in terms of advanced operational systems and new ways of working Regular
communications from the CEQ have taken place in recent years lo keep employees updated vath plans and
progress. with Q&A sessions held to ensure two-way feedback that can be circulated to the Board  An external
company. Storyleilers, was also engaged so that senior managers could help brng to ife the FirstPort way in an
engaging and nteractive manner for employees These sessions were held far all team members and feedback
given back 1o the Board via senior leadership meetings. Roll out plans have been determined by employee
feedback on business readiness. and the Board not wanting to put undue strain on the workforce

M&A opportunities are generally confidential by nature, however 1he Board gains assurance of these decisions from
an employee perspeclive through a senior due diligence team that are close to the operations  An assessmant on
culture ang lgng term fit of any potential M&A opportunities 1s also cammed out! ta gain camfor no major canflicts will
arnse Foliowing a detaled due dilgence process a presentahon and report is subnuited to the Boarg summansmg
findings. allowang the Board to make an infarmed decision based on what s best for both Group and its empioyees

The Group aims to ensure everyone 1s reated fairly and equitably and there are arrangements in place to prevent
discrimination in the workplace. A dedicated HR leam is available to support employees and thare 18 a dedicated
whistleblowing hothne if an employee wishes to raise a serious matter. this can be done ancnymously  Any matters
ansmg from any whistleblowing is recorded in our whistleblovang reqister ang reviewed by the Risk & Governance
Comnuttee, a sub-committee of the Executive Maragement Board.

The Group understands the importance of weitbeing especially during this unprecedented year. Afl of our
employees have access to our Employee Assistance Programme, which ts managed by an independent thirg party,
as well as internal colieagues trained as Mental Health First Aiders During COVID-19, regular communications
and additional supgort have been provided to employees across the business. from sharing information on available
mental health resources to tips for hame-schooling parents

Our e-fearning platform inciudes traming modules deswgned ta make sure we alact in a lawful and compliant way
while conducting day {o day dulies. this includes dala privacy anb-bribery and anti-money laundering, modern
sfavery and health and safety legistation For high risk topics, employees are required to complete this traimng
annually To support empioyee growth onhne traming modules alsa cover a range of development topics. from
pecoming a great leader through to how ta menter and coach others

Please refer lo pages € and 7 for more information about our employees and our people management approach
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Community and environment

We are committed 1o reducing our carbon footprint and environmental impact and are reviewing our CO2
enmussions annually In 2020, the Carbon Teust evafuated our carbon foolprint and validated the carbon reporting
figures under 1SO 140643,

As a business we also recognise the importance of contnbuting te wider society. During 2020. we continued to
suppor a national youth homelessness charity. Centrepoint  The charity provides homeless young people with
accommadation, health suppert and life skills in order to get them back into education, training and employment

Corporate governance and reputation of high standards of business conduct

In 2020. we worked with exdernal advisors to carry gut a gap analysis of our overalt corporate governance
structure ncluding enviconmental and social gavernance The \Wates Corporale Governance Principles (the
‘Wates Principles”) for large private companies have been used (o benchmark the Group's governance structure
The Board will continue to work towards improving its corporate governance practices m line with the Wates
Principles and drive to meel these standards.

Our purpose and our operaling mode) provide the key elements of how the Group mamtamns a reputation for high
standards of business conduct

Further details are provided on page 7 and page 14

Stakeholder engagement

Our Board ensufes that posttive stakeholder engagement exists al all levels across the business, and that
decisions put cusiomers first However, with a wide stakeholder base that includes customers, clients supplhers.
empioyees and soctety more widely, decisions atsc lake all of these audiences mnto account.

The Board will sometimes engage directly with key stakeholders on certain issues. but the size and distnbation of
our stakehoiders and our Group means that stakeholder engagement often takes piace at an operational tevel

Senior management hold monthly meetings with key clients to review our services in therr respective portfoiios
This enables us to highhght any issues raised by our clients and {ake action transparently The Board 1s regularly
updated by senior management on the progress of any matiers raised in the chent engagement meetings

The Board considers and discusses nformation from across the organisation to help it understand the impact of
the Group's operations and the interests and views of key stakeholders 1t also reviews strategy. financial and
operational performance, as well as key risks and regulatory compliance This information 1s provided to the
Board through reports sent in advance of each Board meeting and via presentations

The Board understands the importance of developing and mamtaining good relationship with the Groug's supply
chain Due to the nature of the services we offer. we have a diverse mix of large national suppliers and local
suppliers VWhilst engagement with our suppliers mainly takes place at an operational level through our
centralised procurement team. any developments which could materially impact the argarnisaticn are reponted
back to the Board The Board wilf aiso review and approve key matenal contracts with its supply cham

Customer research is conducted with both residential customers and resident management company drectors to
ensure the business understands what's impaortant lo these stakehaclders

The business coniinues fo proachively ergage with key siakeholders on the budding and fire safety challenges
facing feaseholders across the country, including engaging with Government to try and find practicat solutians for
homeowners. 35 well as working with clients. supphers and customers to held remed:ate buildings  tn the light of
the unprecedented. challenging circumsiances these customers are facing we are pleased to have announced in
early 2021 a no-profit pledge commutting te only recover our costs on our wark supporting customers whose
Buildings are being remediated wia the Government s non-ACM cladding repiacement fund
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Engagement in action

Over the year we held

Internal staff commitiee meetings and working with third party experts o discuss health and safety and the
ways i can be improved across both the business and the developments in our care  Tne findings were
presenfed back to the Board who agproved the formation of a new building safety team to deal with
developments that fall under the new regulatory requirements

An informal forum to discuss environmentat and sustainability mitiatives  This led to the setup of an ESG
committee made up of employees in relevant departments  Updates to the Board are provided through the
Board report with approval sought where appropriate

Regular engagement between our executive members and all employees through recorded and live videos
an internal social media system and a virtual company conference accessible for all employees to view and
provide feedback on The Board approved the fist virtual conference n 2020 which was wel} receved and
provided a great feedback loop to capture employee sentiment especially in such unprecedented tmes

A survey with our employees around fiexibie working patterns and engaged with specific office based staff
that were impacted by our reduced office foot-print. to ensure the majority were supportive of the measures
we undertook along with the future pians of therr working envirgnment. The clear preference from employees
was to maintain a flexible approach therefore measures to enable this were approved by the Board

Monthly meetings with key clients with thewr progress reported back to the executive management team and
Board of Directors  The meetings have allowed our service model and propasition to evolve with cur
customer s needs and continue to improve our service offering in the market.

Meetings with key suppliers to review service levels to ensure good service delivery performance during the
COVID-19 national lockdown These provided better understanding for suppiiers around our business and
goals, enablng a mutually beneficial sustainable relahonship They also gave suppliers the oppariunity to
showcase where else they may be able to support us  Key updates were pravided in Board meetings

Customer interviews conducted by a specialist market research agency 1o shape customer service delivery
and improvements The interview helped reshape some of the decision-making processes i eur Digital
platform to ensure we cater for custemer requirements  Digital was a hot Board topic throughout 2021

Sharehoiders

Our majority shareholder appointed two Non-executive directors to the Board. who contribute to the strategic
direction of the Group

Quda Saleh
Director
30 Apnit 2021
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020
Principal activities

The principal activity of the Group is the provision of residential property management and related services within
the UK. and that of the company s investment management Activities in ts trading business FirstPort. has been
explained in the Strategic Report on page 2

Directors

The directors who held office dunng the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as
follows

P J Lester {appointed on 16 January 2020}

N Howefl

O Balenh

T A Swales

| G Boman-Flavell {appomted on 13 February 2020)
D K Young {appointed on 26 November 2020)
S Leusch (resigned on 13 February 2020)

Directors' insurance

The group mantains insurance policies on behalt of ali the directors agamst habity ansing from neghgence.
breach of duty and breach of trust in relation ta the group Thus is a qualiying third party indemnity provision made
far the benefit of its directars dunng the year These prowisions remain in force at the rgporting date

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out in the consolidated profit and less account on page 27 No ordinary dividends
were paid The directors do nof recommend payment of a further dividend

Employees

tnformation on employees is included in the Strategic Report on pages 6 and 7 Fusther informatien on employee
engagement is included in tha 5172 (1) statement In the Strategic Report on page 18

Disabled persons

Information on disabled persons 1s included in the Strategic Report on pages 6 and 7

Stakeholder engagement and principal decisions

Information on stakeholder engagement and principal decisions s included i the s172 {1} statement in the
Strateqic Report on page 17 and pages 19 and 20.

Future developments

The future developments of the business are discussed Iin the Strategic Report on page 8
Financial risk management

Information on financial risk management 1s inciuded in the Strategic Report on page 15
Going Concern

Information on going concern is included # note 1 4 on page 35
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulation

Company law requires the dioctors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have prepared the group and company financial statemenis in accordance with Unted Kigdom
Generally Accepled Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards compnrsing FRS 102 “The
Finangial Reporting Standard appiicable in the UK and Republic of Irefand”, and apphcable law)

Under company law directors must not approve ihe financial statements unless they are satishied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affars of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group for that
penod In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to

* select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

* stale whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards. comprising FRS 102, have been followed
subject i any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

*  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent, and

= prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t s nappropriate 1o presume that the
group and company wilt conlinue 1n business

The directors are aiso responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking
reascnable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irreqularities

The directors are respansible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the

group's and company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial pesiton of the
group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006

Directors' confirmations
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report 1§ approved

* g far as the director s aware. there 1s no relevant audt information of which the group's and company’s
auditors are unaware, and

* they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware
of any refevant audit information and to establish that the group's and company s auditors are aware of that
information

Quda Saleh
Director
30 Aprd 2021

22



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Cpinion
tn our opinion Drive Topco Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial
statements”)

. gwve a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and
of the group’s loss and the group’s cash fiows for the year then ended-

. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
{Urited Kingdom Accounting Standards comprising FRS 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Irefand”, and applicable law), and

. have been prepared In accordance with the requirements of the Comparnies Act 2006

We have audited the financial statements. included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the "Annaual
Report”). which compnse consolidated and company balance sheet as at 31 December 202C the consoclhdated
profit and loss account and consolidated statement of comprehensive income. the consolidated cash flow
statement. and the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended, and the
notes to the financial statements which include a description af the significant accounting policies

Basis for opinion

We conducted ocur audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditng (UK) {ISAs (UK) ) and apphcable
law Cur responsibdities under [SAs (LK) are further descnbed m the Auditors’ responsibiliies for the audit of the
financial statements section af our repart We believe that the audt evidence we have obitaned s sufficient and
appropiiate to provide a basis for aur gpinion

Independence

We remained mdependent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audsit of
the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Stangard and we have fulfilled our ather
ethicai responsibdities 0 accerdance with these requirements

Conclusions relating to going concern
Qur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group's and the company's abiity to continue to adopt the gawg
concern basis of accounting included

* Auditing the integnty of the underlying formulas and caiculations within the going concern model,
« Assessing the appropriateness of the cash flow forecasts n the context of the Group's 2020 financial
performance and the acquisitions made in the year. and evaluating the separate downside scenario.

= Evaluating the key assumptions in the forecasts (which were consistent with the forecasts used to assess
goodwilly

»* Tesling the forecast revenue and EBITDA figures with reference to the additional amounts contributed by the
acquisitions made assumed efficiencies from the acquisitions and other projects and assumplions made in
relation to price and churn.

«  Comparnng the prnor year forecasts against current year actuat performance to assess management's ability
to forecast accurately particularly i the period before Cowvid-19 but also considenng the perfarmance of the
Group since the first lockdown on 23 March 2020 and

¢  Obtaining and reperforming the Group's forecast covenant comptance caiculatens including sensiising the
profits and cash flows as applicable for each covenant to assess the potential impact of our downside
sensitivites on covenant campliance
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED {CONTINUED)

Based on the work we have performed. we have not identfied any material uncertainties relating to events or
condiions that. individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements. we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern bass of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate

Howaver. because not all future events or conditions can be predicted. this statement is not a guarantee as to the
group's and company’s ability {o continue as a going congern

Our responsibilities and the responsibiites of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
retevant sectians of this report

Reporting on other information

The other information comgprises all of the information in the Annua! Report other than the financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon The directors are respensible for the other information Qur opinien an the financial
statements does not cover the other information and. accordingly, we do not express an audit optnton or, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this repost. any form of assurance thersan.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibrity 1s to read the other information and. in
doing so. consider whether the other information is matenally inconsistent with the financral slatements or our
xnowledge obtained 1n the audi. or otherwise appears to be matenally misstated If we dentify an apparent
material inconsistency or matena! misstatement, we are required to perfarm procedures to conclude whether there
:s a material misstaterment of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information if based
on the work we have performed. we conclude that there is @ matenial misstatement of this other information. we
are required to repart that fact We have nothing to report based on these responsihilibes

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required
by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included

Based on the responsibiiies described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit. ISAs (UK}
require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below

Sirategic Report and Directors” Report

In our gpinion, based on the work undertaken in the course cf the audit the information given in the Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 1s consistent with the financial statements and
has been prepared in accerdance with applicable iagat requirements

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their enviranment cbtained in the
course of the audit we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibifities in respect of the financial statements the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial stalements in accordance with the appiicabie
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view The directors are aiso responsible for such
internal control as they determine i1s necessary tc enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error,

in prepanng the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as appiicable, matters related to going concern and using the
gaing cencern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or 1o
cease gperations. or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur ohjectives are tc obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinian.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if. individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements

Irregulanties. including fraud are instances of non-compliance with taws and regulabons We design pracedures in
line with our responsibilities. cullined above. to detect matenal misstatements in respeci of irregularities. including
fraud The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregulanties, including fraud, is detaled below.

8Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with
laws and requlations related to breaches of employment jaws. health and safety regutations. data protection. tax
legistation and the International stock exchange listing rules . and we considered the extent to which non-
complance might have a material effect on the financial statements We also considered those laws and regulations
that have a dwect impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006, We evaluated
management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the firancial statements {including the risk
of override of controls). and determined that the prancipal nsks were related to the posting of inappropriate journal
entries and management bias in accounting judgments and estimates to enhance EBITDA Audit procedures
performed included

* Discussions with management, including consideration of known or suspected tnstances of non-complhance
with laws and regulatiens and fraud,

* Challenging assumptions made by management mn selabion to areas of judgment and significant accounting
estmates including the classificatton of costs as exceplional, the capitalisation of Intangible assets and the
valuation of wdentified intangibles arising from the acquisition accounting for the two acquisitions made within
the year,

* Testing journal entries meeling set risk crteria, i particular any journal enkries posted with unexpected
account combinations resulting in a credit entry to revenue or cost. journal entries containing unusual words
and any journals posted by senior management:

* Incorporating efements of unpredictability into the audit procedures performed, in particular over supptier
bark details; and

* Review of board minutes throughout the year and legal costs incurred to understand if these are indicative of
any wider non-complance or fraud matters

There are nherent mstations in the audit procedures described above We are less likely to become aware of
nstances of non-compliance with taws and regulatons that are not ciosely related ta events and transactions
reflected in the financial statements Also. the ask of not detecting 3 material misstatement due to fraud is higher
than the nsk of not detecting one resulting from errer as fraud may mvolve deliberate concealment by, for example.
forgery of intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financsal statements s located on the FRC's website
at www frc org uk/auditorsresponsibiliies This descnption forms part of our auditors’ report

Use of this report

This report. including the opinions. has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 20086 and for no other purpose We do nat. 1 giving
these opmions accept ar assume responsibility for any other purpose or 1o any other person to whom this report 1s
shown or into whose hands it may come save where exprassly agreed by our prior consent in writing
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2008 we are required to report to you if in our opimion
¢ we have not received ali the information and explanations we requwe for our audit. or

* adequate accounting fecords have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been recewed from branches not visited by us. or
+ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made or

* the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility

Diane Walmsley {Senior Statutory Auditar}

for and on behall of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

30 April 2021

26



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Turnaver
Cost of sales

Grass profit

Admuntistralive expenses

Admunistrative expensas - exceptionat tems

Other operating income

Operating loss

Interest payable and simitar expenses

Loss before taxation

Taxen loss

Loss for the year / pericd

Note

IS

13

15

Year ended
31 December 2020
£000 £'000
66,786
(2,824)
63,962
(63.543)
{2.784)
(66,327}
672
(1.683)
(11,749}
(13.442)
(636)
(14.078)

7 month period ended
31 December 2019
£000 £000

19.401

19.401

{19.516)
(2.123)

{21.63%

{2.238)

(3.429)

{5.667)
(72}

{5.739)
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Loss fur the nancial year / penod

Other comprehensive incame

Tatal comprehensive expense for the year / period

Total comprehensive expense for the year / pericd aitnbutable to
- Owners of the parent

Total comprahensive expense for the year ! period

Year ended

31 December 2020

7 month period ended

31 December 2019

£°000 £'000
(14.078) (5739)
{14.078) (5 739)
(14.078) (5.739)
(14.078) (5.739;
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangibie assets

Cursent assets

Debtors

Investment properties held for resale
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within
one year

Met current habilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after
more than one year

Provision for liabilities
Net liabilities

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Treasury shares
Accumutated losses

Tota! equity

Mote

16
17

20

22

23

25

28
28
28

2020

£000 £'000
163,338

2,781

166,119

8,671
187
7,585
16,643
(24.588)

(7.945)

158 174
{162.106)
(15.673)
{19.60%)

1

144
m
{19.749)
{19.605)

The notes on pages 34 to 74 are an integral part of these financral statements

2018
£'000 £'000
119.000
3111
122111
5313
187
4 558
10.058
(13 746)
{3.688)
118.423
{113.915)
(10.153)
(5.645)
4
93
{5.739)
(5.645)

The financial statements on pages 27 to 74 were authonsed for issue by the board of directors and authorised for

1ssue on 30 April 2021 and are sxgnad on its hehalf by

Ouda Saleh
Director




DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 21 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
Note £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Fixed assets
investment in subsichanes 18 162 94
162 94

Current assets
Debtors 20 3i8 -
(Cash at bank and i hand 5 -

323 -
Creditors: amounts falling due within
one year 22 (269) :
Met current assets 54 -
Jotal assets less current liabilities 216 94
Creditors: amounts talling due after
more than one year 23
Net assets 216 94
C.apital and reserves
Called up share capital 28 1 1
Share premium account 28 ta4 a3
Treasury shares 28 N B
Share based payment reserve 28 58 -
Retaingd earnings 4
Total equity 218 94

T T —— e

The campany made a profit of £4k dunng the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019 nil)

For the year ending 31 December 2020 the company was enttled to exemprion under secticn 408 of the
companies Act 2006 from presenting its individual prefit and loss account

The notes an pages 34 to 74 are an integral part of these financial statements

The financial statements on pages 27 ta 74 were authensad for issue by the board of directors and authorised far
igsue on 30 April 2021 and are signed on its behalf by

Quda Saleh
Director

Drnve Topco Limited
Registered no. 12043034
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Balance at 11 June 2019

Pericd ended 31 Decernber 2019:
l.oss for the period and total comprehensive expense
for the period

Total transaction with owners. recorded directly
to equity

Issue of shares

Tetal contnbutiens by and distnbutions to owners

Balance at 31 December 2019

Year ended 31 December 2020:
Loss for the year and tolal comprehensive expanse
far the year

Total transaction with owners, recorded directly
to equity

Credi relaling to equily -settled share-based payments
issue of shares (27.075 of £0 01 ordinary shares)

Issue of shares to EBT (2,000 of £0 01 ordinary shares)
Acquistion of shares by EBT

Settiement of shares by EBT members

Total centriputions by and distnbutions to owners

Balance at 31 December 2020

Note

28

14
28
28
28
28

Called up Share Treasury Accumulated Total
share premium sharas losses edguity
capital

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

B B (5738 (5.739)

1 93 94

1 a3 94
1 93 (5.739) {5 545)
(14.078) (14 078}

. 68 88

- 48 - - 48

- 3 (3) -
- (4) (4}

3] [

51 (1) 64 118
1 144 1) (16 749) (19605}
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Cailed up Share Treasury Share Retained Total
share premium shares Based earnings aquity
Note capital Payment
Reserve
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Batance at 11 June 2019 - . -
Perigd ended 14 December 2u19:
Results for the firancial penod - - .
Totat transaction with owners, recorded directly to
aguity
Issue of shares 28 + 93 - - - g4
Total contrbutians by and disirbutions to owners
! a3 - - G4
Balance at 21 December 2019 i g3 . - - g4
Year ended 31 December 2020:
Profit for the year N 4 4
Total transaction with owners, recorded directly to
equity
Credit relatng lo equity-settied share-based payments 28 - - - &8 - &8
Issue of shares {27 075 of EC 01 ordinary shares) 28 - 48 N . - a8
Issue of Shares to EBT {2 000 of £0 01 oedinary shares] 28 - 3 3 - - .
Acquisition of shares by EBT 28 - . {4) . - 4}
Settliemént of shares by EBT members 28 - - [ R . 5
Total contributions by and distribulions 10 owners
- 51 (1) &8 11§
Balance at 31 December 2020 1 144 (1} [:1:] 4 216
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated / (used) s operalions
Tax pad

Net cash generated / {used) in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of subsidiaries net of cash acquired
Purchase of intangibte assets
Purchase of tangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of shares

Issue of shareholder loans
Interest pad

Drawdown of bank faciity

Loan arrangement fees
Repayments under finance lease

MNet cash generated from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year / period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year / peried

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash at bank and in hand

Year ended
31 December 2020

Note £'000 £'000
36 12.214
{85)

12.149
3 (36 965)
(7.881)
1975)

(45.821)
51
10.395
(5.380)
33.500
(1.867)

36.699

3027

4558

7 585

7.585

7 month period ended
31 December 2019

£'000 £'000
{11,528}
(282}

(11,810}
{31.262)
(2 389
(424}

{34.085)
84
51.036
(620}
{57)

50453

4558

4,558

4558
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DRIVE TCPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.4

1.2

1.3

Accounting policies

General information

Drive Topco Limited ("the Company”). incorporated on 11 June 2013, and its subsidharies (together “the
Graup”) provides residential property management and related services. and safety and wellbeing services.
witiun the United Kingdom The main business operates as FirstPort which is the fargest residential property
management busmess in the UK with a core service offering organised around six customer/market
segments Luxury, Large and Camplex. Properly Services, Estates, Build 1o Rent and Retirement. In addition
to #s core offerings FirstPort also provides specialist independent retirement estate agency services
Insurance products, and residential lethings

The company is a private company imited by shares and 1s incarporated i the United Kingdom and
registered n England The address of its registered office 1s Queensway House 11 Queensway. New
Milton, Hampshire. UK BH25 5NR

Statement of compliance

The Group and individual financial statements of Dnive Topco Limited have heen prepared 1n comphance
with United Kingdem Accounting Standards including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ~The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of reland” ('FRS 102"} and the
Compames Act 2008

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below The accounting policies have been applied consistently. other than where new policies have
been adopted

Basis of preparation

These consohdated and separate company financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
under the histoncal cost convention

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain cntical accounting estimates it also
requires management to exercise iis judgement in the process of applying the Group and Company's
accountng policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexily or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

14

Accounting policies {continued}

Going concern

The Group manages its day-to-day working capital requirements through its bank facilities. The ability of the
Group to service Its debt cbkgabons is criticat to the ongoing trading of the business and we have
considered the key factors thal could have an impact on trading and whether an adverse change in these
factors could affect our abiity to meet our habiiies The Group has a conswerable number of on-going
management contracts in FirstPort. and accordingly the Group's forecasts and projections, taking accaunt of
reasonably possible changes in trading performance. show that the Group should be able lo operate within
the level of its current facitities

As part of assessing the ability to continue 25 a going cancern, the Group has alse considered the ongoing
mmpact of the COVID-18 pandemic and any related potential economic downturn on its business Dunng this
assessment, management conducted various scenario analysis with sufficient depth and duration
considering different levels of revenue reduction, working capital implications and matigaling actions
available to management In 2020 the impact of COVID-19 was felt in the Group's transactional revenue
lines which 15 reliant on the property market This involves the Group’s lettings and resales servces
Management have created a “sgvere” downside scenario which modelled the effect of reductions to revenue
up to June 2022 The modet assumed that all transacticnal revenue will be lost and no cost reducton efforts
would be made In this "severe” scenano. sufficient iquichty and headroom on the Group's covenanis were
demonstrated Even though the COVID-19 pandemic has presented a high tevel of uncerlainty lo all
businesses. FirstPort operates as a resilent business and has the capabslites to continue to operate fer the
foreseeable future and for al least the pernod of twelve months foltowing the date of approval of these
financial statements. The Group generated cash in 2020 and ended the year with £7 585k cash with an
unutilised £7 5m revelving credit faciity

Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

FRS 102 aliows a qualifying entity certamn disclosure exemptions subject ta certain conditions. which have
been complied with. including notification of and no objection to. the use of exemptions by the Company's
shareholders The Company has taken advantage of the following exemptions

{n from preparing a statement of cash flows on the basis that it is a gualfying entity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows included in these financial statements includes any cash flows
of the Cempany.

() from the financial instrument disclosures. required under FRS 102 paragraphs 11 41(b). 11 41(c).
1141{e). 1141(f) 1142 1144. 1145 1147 11 48{a)(in). 11 48(a)iv) 11 48(b} 11 48(c) 12 26,
12 27. 12 29(a). 12 29(b) and 12 28A as the information 1s provided in the consolidated financial
statement disclosures’

from disciosing the Cempany key management personnel compensation as required by FRS 102

L) patagraph 33 7. as the information (s provided in the consolidated financial statement disclosures

The company has taken advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Compames Act from

v} presenting its indwidual profit and loss account
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.6

1.7

Accounting policies (continued)

Audit exemptian of subsidiaries

Drive Topco Limited has provided a tegal guarantee under s478A-C of the Companies Act 2006 to the below
subsidiaries for audit exemption.

Company Registration number
Drive Bidco Limited 12043128
Knight 8quare Holdings Limited 07925023
Kright Midco Limited 07927819
Knight Square Limited 07925019
FirstPeort Limited 04352396
FirstPort Bespoke Property Services 01623496
FirstPort Insurance Services Limited 03479579
FirstPort Property Services Limited 02061041
FirstPort Property Services No 2 Limited 02231168
FirstPort Property Services No 4 Limited 07299764
FirstPort Property Services No 5 Limited 05876680
FirstPort Property Services Scotland (33829468
FirstPort Retirement Property Services Limited 01614866
Retirement Homesearch Limited 03829469
Mainstay Group Limited 04002715
Mainstay Facilites Management bimited 03340310
Mainstay Residenttal Limited 04052477
Chamonix Holdings 12500321
Chamonix Group Limited 05858372
Chamomx Estates Limited 05851267
Fairfield Company Secretares Limited 05988785

Basis of consolidation

The Group's consolidated financial statements inciude the financial statements of the Company ard all of its
subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 December.

A subsidiary is an entity controlied by the Group Centrol 15 the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity sc as to obtain benefits from its actwities The results of subsidiary undertakings are
included in the consolidated financial statements from lhe date control is obtained until the date centrol
ceases Where a subsidiary has different accounting policies to the Group. adjustments are made to those
subsidiary financtal statements to apply the Group's accounting policies when preparing the consolidated
financia! statements

An associate is an entity being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, in which the Group holds a long-term
interest and where the Group has significant influence  The Group considers that it has sigrificant influence
where it has the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the assocrate. The resulls of
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting

All intra-Group transaclions. balances, income and expenses are elimnated on consohdation
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

.7

1.8

1.8

Accounting policies {continued)

Basis of consolidation {continued)

Where the group has established employee benefit trusts {(EBT} and 15 the sponsoring entity
notwithstanding the legal duties of the trustees, the group considers that it has 'de facto' contral of such
entities Such arrangements are accounted for as assets and habilities of the sponsoring company and
cluded in the consolidated financial statements as appropriate The company’s equity instruments held by
the EBT are accounted for as if they were the company's own equity and are treated as treasury shares No
gain or loss 15 recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income on the purchase, sale or
canceftation of the company’s own equity held by the EBT

Functional and presentation currency
The Group financial statements are presented in pound sterling and rounded %o thousands The Company's
functionat and presentation currency Is pound sterling

Revenue recognition

Revenue s measured at the far value of the consideration recewed or recewable and represents the
amount recetvable for goods supplied or services rendered net of discounts and rebates aliowed by the
Group and vaiue added {axes

The Group fecognises revenue when (a) the significant nsks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer; (b) the Graup retains no continuing iwvolvement in or control aver the goods; {c) the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. (d) it 1s probable that future economic benefits will flow {0 the
entity and {e) when the specific crniteria relating to each of the Group's sales channels have been met as
described below

Revenue for the key services provided by the Group 1s recognised as follows:
(i) Residential and commercial property management services

Fees for remdental and commercial property management services, including maintenance, are recognised
as the Group's obligations under the applicabte contracts are detivered o the customer which is typically on
a straight-hne basis over the penod of the contract

() Cther revenue

Commussions earned on the placing of insurance products on behalf of third parties are recognised when the
Group has completed s services under the arrangements which 1s the inception date of the underlying
Insurance policy. Any commission adjustments for additional and return premiums are recognised as they
ocour

Fees for real estate agency and property transfer services are recogrused on completien of the reiated
property sale Fees for residental lettings arranged by the Group are recogmsed on execution of binding
rental contracts between landlord and tenant

(i Recharge of house managers’ employment cost

Amounts coliected from customers in relation to the employment of house managers and deputies to
aversee individual developments managed by the Group are recogrused as net of cost. where recharges
equal costs incurred The Group is considered to be an agent as it does not have exposure 10 significant
risks and rewards associated with the rendering of these services
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Accounting policies {continued)

Government grants

Government granis are recognised at the far value of the asset received or recewvable when there 1s
reascnable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the grants will be received

The Group adopts the accrual model relating to Gavernment granis Government grants relating to turnover
are recognised as income over the periods when the retated costs are incurred

Exceptional items

The Group ctassifies certain non-recurring charges or credits in a financial period that are not pan of the
underlying trading business. that have a materiai impact {by size or nature) on the Group's financial results
as 'exceptional tems’ These are disclosed separately to show the underlying trading of the Group

Employee benefits

The Group provides a range of benefits ta emplayees. including annual bonus arrangements, paid hohday
arrangements and defined centritbution pensian plans

(1) Shart-term benefits

Short-term benefits including haliday pay and other similar nen-monetary benefits. are recognised as an
expense In the period in which the service is received An accrual 1s recognised at the balance sheet date
for any maternial remaining obligations to employees

i) Defined contribution pension plans

The Group operates a number of country-specific defined contribution plans for its employees A defined
contnibution pian 1s a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contnbutions Into a separate entity
Once the contributions have been paid the Group has no further payment obligations The contributions are
recogrised as an expense when they are due Amounts not pawd are shown n acgruals in the balance sheet
The assets of the plan are held separately from the Group in independently administered funds

{iiy  Annual bonus plan

The Group operates annual bonus plans for employees An expense 1s recognised in the profit and loss
account when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to make paymanis under the plans as a resuit
of past events and a rehable estimate of the obligation can be made
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Accounting policies {continued)

Share-based payments

From time to time, the Group makes equity seitied share-based payment awards to employees of subsiciary
undertakings

In the Group financial stalements. the fair value of the awards at the date of grant 15 charged to the profit or
loss over the vesting penod with a corresponding merease in equity being recogrised through retained
earnings.

In the Company financial statements. the obligation to settle the transaction with the employees of
subsidiary undertakings 1s recognised as a capital contribution made to those subsidiaries by increasing the
cost of investment in subsidiary underakings as the subsichanes recognises the charge for share based
payment awards in profit or loss

Non-market vesting condiions are taken info account by adjustng the number of eguity nstruments
expected to vest at each balance sheet date so that uitimately, the cumulative amaunt recognised over the
vesting period is based on the value of awards that eventually vest Non-vesting conditions and market
vesting condiions are factored into the far value of the awards granted As long as all other vesting
conditicns are satisfied a charge 15 made to profit or loss wrespective of whether any market vesting
conditons are satisfied The cumulative expense 15 not adjusted for failure fo achieve a market vesting
condition or where a non-vesting condition 1s not satishied

Taxation

Taxation expense for the period comprises cusrent and deferred lax recognised in the reporting penod Tax
15 recognised ¢ the profit and loss account. except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 1n other
comprehensive income or directly 10 equity in which case the related tax 15 also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectvely

Current or deferred taxation assets and habiities are nat discounted
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Accounting policies (continued)

Taxation {continued}
{1} Current tax

Current tax s the amount of income fax payabie In respect of the taxable profit for the period. Tax s
calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year
end Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect 1o situations in which
apphcable tax regulation is subject to interpretation 1t establishes provisions where approprate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the fax authonties

(n} Deferred tax

Deferred tax anses from timing differences that are differences between taxable profils and total
comprehensive mncome as stated in the financial statements These tming differences anse from the
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are
recognised in the financiat statements Deferred tax is also recognised in rejation to assels and labidities
acquired 1n a business combination where the amount that will be deducted cr assessed for tax differs to the
fair value at which the asset or liability 1s recognised on acquisition in the fimanciaf statements The tax base
of an asset or liabiiity is determired based on the expected manner of recovery Investment praperties and
land are deemed to have recovery via dispesal and accordingly the UK capital gains regime is apphed when
estimating the tax base of these assets

Deferred tax 1s recognised on all trming differences at the reporting date Unrelieved tax losses and other
deferred tax assels are only recognised when it 1s probabie that they will be recovered against the reversal
of deferred tax ligbilities or other future taxable profits

Deferred tax 1s measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
year end and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

Deferred tax assels and habiities are offset when there 15 a legally enforceable nght to offset current tax
assets and liabilties and when the deferred tax assets and labilties arise from income taxes levied by the
same taxaticn authority on either the same taxable entity ar different taxable entities where there 1s an abiity
and intention t¢ setile the balances at the same time.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase methad.

The cost of a business combinaticn 1s the farr value of the consideration given. Labilities incurred or
assumed and of equity instruments 1ssued plus the costs directly attnbutable to the business combination
Where control 15 achieved in stages the cost 1s the consideration a! the date of each transaction

On acquisition of a business, fair values are atiributed to the identifiable assets labilites and contingent
labilities unless the fair vaive canngt be measured reliably, in which case the value I1s incorporated in
goodwill. Where the fair value of contingent habilities cannot be reliably measured they are discliosed on the
same basis as other contingent habulities

Goodwill recognised represents the excess of the farr value and directly attributable costs of the purchase
consideration over the fair values of the Groug's interest in the identifiable net assets, labihties and
contingent liabilities acquired

On acquisition, goodwill is aliocated to cash-generating units (CGU's ) that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combination from which it arose
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1

1.15

Accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Gaodwill is amorissed over its expected useful life which 1s estimated to be twenty years. Gocdwill is
assessed for imparment when there are indicatars of impairment and any impairment s charged fo the
income staternent No reversals of imparment are recognised

Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisaton and accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets acquired on business combinatons are recognised separately from goodwill at the
acquisition date if the far value can be measured reliably

Amortisation 1s caiculated. using the siraight-ine method. to aliecate the depreciable amount of the assets
to their residual values over thewr estimated useful lives as follows

Software straight-ine over 3 years
Acquired customer lists straight-iine over 2 to 10 years
Acquired brands straight-ine over 5 to 10 years

Amortisation is inciuded i administralive expenses’ in the profit and i0ss account

Where factors. such as technological advancement er changes in rmarket price. indicate that residual value
or useful life have changed. the residual value useful hfe or amortisation rate are amended prospechvely to
reflect the new circumstances

The assets are reviewed for imparrment if the above faclors indhicate that the carrying amount may be
impaired

Costs assoctated with maintaiming computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred
Development costs that are directly altnbutable to the design and testing of identfiable and umque scftware
products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangibie assets when the following criteria are met

¢ 1tis technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use.

*  management intends to complete the software and use or selt it

« there s an abilty to use or sell the software;

« it can be demonstrated how the software will generate prabable future ecanomic benefit,

* adequate technical, financial and other resources ta complete the development and to use or sell the
software are available and
* the expenditure altributable to the software durning its davelopment can be rellably measured

Other develepment expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as mncusred
Development costs praviously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent
oenod
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Accounting policies {continued)

Tangible fixed assets

Tangibie assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumutated impairment tosses Cost
ingludes the onginal purchase pnice. costs directly attributable to bringing the asset 1o its working condition
for its intended use, dismanting and restoration costs

Depreciation and residual values

Depreciation on other assets s calcutated. using the straight-ine method. to allocate the depreciable
amount to their residual valuas over their estimated usefut hves. as follows

Cffice equipment. fixtures and fittings straight-ine over 3 to 5 years

The asseis’ residual values and usaful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate. at the end of each
reporting penod. The effect of any change is accounted for prospechively

Subsequent adchitions

Subsequeni costs. including major inspections. are included in the assets carrying amount or recognised as
a separate assel. a5 appropnate. only when it 1s probable that economic benefits associated with the item
will fiow 1o the Group and the cost can be measvured reliably

Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred

Derecognition

Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected On
disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the ¢arrying amount 1s recognised in the
profit and loss account and included in other eperating income

Investment properties, including assets held for sale

The Group's interests in teasehold apariments within residential development sites are classified as
investment properties and inctuded within non-current assets

Invesiment propertes are imtially recogrised at cest. which for the Group was the fair value from acquisition
in a busingss combination Subseguent to inttial recagnition investment properties are recogrused at far
value through profit and loss The far value of investment properties 1s determined using valuation
techniques fo estimate their current market values taking into consideration the tming and impact of any
encumbrances to sale

From tirne to time the Group makes selected investment properties available for sale where the demand in a
location warrants the cost of marketing and sales. Where the ikelihood of sale within the next financiat year
15 praobable. the property 15 classified as held for resale and included within current assets, and is
recognised at fair value less costs 1o sell

Fixed asset investments

interest in subsitiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are mtiaily measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The investments are assessed for
imparment at each reporting date and any impairment losses or reversals of impairment iosses are
recognised immeadiately in profit or loss
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1.20

t.21

1.22

Accounting policies {continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit and loss account in the period in which they are incurred

Leased assets

At inception the Group assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets. The assessment considers
whether the arrangement 1s. or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement

Leases of assels that transfer substantially alt the risks and rewards incidentat to ownership are classitied as
finance leases

Finance leases are capitalised at commencement of the lease as assets al the fair value of the leased asset
or if lower. the present value of the minimum lease payments calculated using the interest rate imphict in the
lease Where the implcit rate cannot be determined the company's incremental borrowng rate 15 used
Incremental direct costs. incurred in negotiahng and arranging the lease, are included in the cost of the
asset

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating
leases Payments under operating teases are charged to the prefit and loss account on a straight-line basis
over the penod of the lease

Incentives received to enter into an operating lease are credited to the profit and loss account. to reduce the
lease expense, on a straight-line basis over the penad of the lease.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each balance sheet date non-financial assets not carried at farr value are assessed ta determine whether
there is an indication that the asset {or assel's cash-generating unit) may be impaired If there i3 such an
ndication the recoverable amount of the asset (or asset's cash-generating unit) 15 compared to the carrying
amount of the asset (or asset's cash-generating unit) The Group as a whole 1s cansidered to be a cash-
generating unit

The recoverable amount of the asset (or asset's cash-generating unit) is the higher of the fair valug less
cosls to sell ang value in use Value in use 1s defined as the present value of the future cash flows before
interest and tax oblainable as a result of the asset s (or asset's cash-generating unit) contnued use These
cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that represents the current market risk-free rate and
the risks inherent in the asset

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or asset's cash-generating unit) is estmated to be lower than the
carrying amount. the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount An impairment loss 15 recogmsed
in the profit and loss account

If an impairment loss 1s subsequently reversed. the carrying amount of the asset {or asset's cash-generating
unit) 1s increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the revised
carrying amouant does not exceed the carrying amount that wouid have been determsned (net of depreciation
or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recogmised in pnor years A reversal of an imparment loss 15
recegmised in the profit and loss account Goodwill 1 allecated on acqusttion to the cash-generating uni
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination Goodwill i1s included in the carrying vaiue of cash-
generating units for impairment testing Any previous impairment of goodwill 18 not reversed
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1.23

1.25

Accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand. deposits held at call with banks and bank overdrafts
Bank overdrafts when appropriate are shown within borrowings in current habilites

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows the Group adopts an accounting policy of
classifying interest receipts as an nvesting cash flow and interest payments as a financing cash flow
Taxation cash flows are classified as operating cash flows

Provisions

Provisions are recognisad when the Group has a present legal or constructive abligation as a result of past
events, it 1s probable that an outfiow of resources will be required 1o setile the obligation and the amount of
the obhgation can be estimated reliably

Provisions are measured based on the Group's best estimate at the reporting date of the expenditures
expecled to be required {0 settle the obligation discounted 10 the present value, where mater:al

Financiai instruments

The Group has chosen o adopt Sechons 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments
{(n Financial assets

Basic financial assets. including trade and other recewvables and cash and bank balances, are initially
recognised at transaction price. unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transacton where the
transaction 15 measured &t the present vatue of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest
Such assets are subsequently carned at amortised cost using the effective interest method

At the end of each reporting penod financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective
evidence of impairment if an asset s impaired the impairment loss s the difference between the carrying
amaunt and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's oniginal effective
interest rate The impairment loss 15 recognised i profit or ioss

If there 1s a decrease i the impairment loss ansing from an event cccurnng after the imparment was
recogrnised, the imparrment is reversed The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not
exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not previously been recogrised The
impairrment reversal s recoghised in profit or loss

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractuat nghts to the cash fiows from the asset expire or
are settled or (b} substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to
another party or (¢) despite having retained some significant nsks and rewards of ownership. contral of the
asset has been transferred to ancther panty who has the practical ability ta undaterally sell the asset to an
unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions

(n)y  Financial habilities

Basic financial liabilities ncfuding trade and other payables bank loans. loans from fellow Group
companies and preference shares that are classified as debt. are intially recognised at transaction price,
unless the arrangament canstitutes a financing transaction. where the debt instrument is measured at the
present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest

Debt instruments are subsequently carned at amortised cost. using the effective interest rate method
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1.25

1.26

1.27

Accounting policies (continuved)

Financial instruments {continued)
{iny Financial liabilities {continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan faciities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down In this case the fee is deferred unbi the
draw-down occurs To the extent there s no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. the fee s capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amertised over the perod of
the facility 1o which it relates

Trade payables are obligations to pay for geods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from supphers Accounts payable are classified as current liablities if payment is due within ona
year or less If not, they are presented as non-current habilities Trade payables are recognised initally at
transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cest using the effective interest method

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the hability s extingwshed that s when the contractual
obhgation is discharged. cancelled or expires

(il Offsetting

Financial assets and habiites are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when
there 1s a legally enforceable right to set off the recogmsed amounts and there 1s an intention to seltle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the labiity simultaneously

{ivy  Clent monies held

The property management services performed by the Group melude services provided to residential
management companies and which involve arranging and holding cash from levies and charges paid by
residents to the residential manragement compames The cash held at any pont in time 15 held under
Statutory Trust as set out in the Landlord & Tenant Act 1987 Accorcdingly the Group does not include these
cash balances in its balance sheet.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly atributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares are shown 1n equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Related party transactions

The Group discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned within the Group Where
apprapnate, transactions of a similar nature are aggregated unless. in the opinion of the directors. separate
disciosure 15 necessary to understand the effect of the transactions on the Group financial statements

Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

In the applicaton of the Group's accounting policies the directors are required to make judgements
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilties that are not readily apparent
from other sources The estmates and associated assumptions are based on historical expenence and
other factors that are considered to be relevant Aclual results may differ from these estmates
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2 Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimates and judgements are comnlinually evaluated and are based on nistorical experience and other
factors. including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate 15 revised where the
revision affects only that penod. or in the penocd of the revision and future periods where the revision affecis
both current and future periods

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

(i) Classification of leasehold apartments as investment properties

The Group's interests in leasehold apartments within residential development stes are classified as
investment properties and included within non-current assets {n applying this classification the Group has
considered several factors including the apartments are typically used by house managers, the apartments
are not used by the Group for any other administrative purposes. the Group does not typicaily earn rental
income from the apartments but does benefit from capiial appreciation in the open market value of the
apartments, the apartments are periodically made available for sale by the Group and hence gains in value
are crystallised. the fair value of the apariments can be readily attained in 3 manner that 1s not considered to
require undue cost or effort on the part of the Group

{b) Key accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future The resulting accounting estmates will.
by definition seldom equal the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
nsk of causing @ matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habilites within the next financial
year are addressed below

{i) Fair value of acquisition of Knight Square Hoidings Linited. Mainstay Group and Chamonix Group
The farr value of tangible and intangible assets acquired on the acquisiton of Knight Square Holdings
Lrruted Group, Mamnstay Group and Chamonix Group involved the use of valuation techniques and the
estimation of future cash flows to be generated over a number of years The estmation of the fair values
requires the comiination of assumphens including revenue growth, sales mix and volumes. rental values
and increases and customer attriton rates In addition the use of discount rates requires judgement

(1) Imparnment of intangible assets and goodwill

The Group considers annually whether an indicator of gocdwill imparment exists Where an indication of
impairment exists management are reguired to estimate the recoverable value of the cash-generating units
(CGUs) This reqguires estimation of the future cash flows from the CGUs and also selection of appropnate
discount rates in order to calculate the net present value of those cash flows

(iii} Development related provisions

The Group manages a large number of commercial and residential property deveiopments which give nise to
some disputes and claims by customers under the management contracis that govern them  These clams
can take many years i¢ emerge. so management considers it appropriate to recognise a provision These
prowisicns require management's best estimate of the costs that will be incurred based on legislative and
contractual requirements In addition. the timing of the cash fiows and the discount rates used to establish
net present value of the ecbligations require management's jJudgement

(vl Deferred tax assels
The recogmition of deferred tax assets particwlarly relating to previously incurred tosses. requires judgement,
including in refation to the future taxable profits of the entities that incurred the losses the types of losses
and future income. the utilisation of capital allowances in any year, and the extent of group rehef transfers to
be made across the Group
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Acquisitions in the year

Acquisition of Mainstay Group

On 15 September 2020, the Group acquired 100% share of Mainstay Group Limited for a total consideration of
£34,385k. The following table summarises the consideration paid by the Group. the fair value of assels
acquired and labilties assumed at the acquistion date.

Consideration at 15 September 2020:

Cash
Non-cash consideration
Directly attributable cost

For cash fiow disclosure purposes the amounts are disclosed as follows

Cash consideration
Directly attributable cost

Less

Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Nel cash flow

Fixed assets
Customer relationships
Brands

Tangible assets

Current assels

Trade and other recevables
Cash and cash equivalents
Related party recevable

Total assets

Trade and other payables
Corporation tax payable
Deferred tax liabiity

Net Assets
Goodwilk

Total purchase consideration

Notes Book Value

£'000

16
16 -
17 537

2877
5414
3.630

E'000

30,058
3.630
697

34.385

30.058
697

30 755

(5.414)
25341

Adjustments Fair Value
£000 £'000

11,662 1 602
3.161 3161
- 537

- 2877
- 5414
- 3630

i2.458

(7.049)
{99)
(85)

14.763 27 241

- {7.049)
- 99
(2.805) {2,850}

5225
16

11,958 17 183
17 202
34 385
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31

Acquisition of Mainstay Group (continued)

Contribution by the acguired business for the reporting penod since acquisition’

2020

£'000
Turnover 7.092
Profit B74

Upen acquisition. the business had net assels with a fair value of £17 183k. Included in the fair value
adiustments are the recogmtien of intangibie assets reiatng to the acquired business's customer
relatignships and brand identified and iis fair value was measured at £11,602k and £3,161k respectively A
deferred tax Yabilly of £2 805k has been recognised on the infangible assets which has beesn added to
goodwilt,

The goodwill of £17 202k from the acquisition is attributable to the expertise and experience of the warkforce
acguired. the customer relationships and economies of scale expected from combining the operatiens into
the Group Management has estimated the useful fife of the goodwill to be 20 years

The customer relationships intangible assels has been attributed a useful ife of between 2 and 10 years and
brands intangible asset has been attnbuted a useful Iife of 10 years The useful life 1s based on the penod of
when the majority of the value is generated
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Acquisitions in the year

Acquisition of Chamonix Group

On 2 December 2020 the Group acquired 100% share of Chamonix Haidings Limited for a total consideration
of £18,355k The following table summarnses the consideration paid by the Group. the fair value of assets
acquired and labilities assumed at the acquisition date

Consideration at 2 December 2020:

Cash

Borrowings setfled
Norn-cash consideration
Directly attributable cost

For cash flow disclosure purposes the amounts are disclosed as foliows.

Cash conswderation
Borrowings settled
Directly attributable cost

Less.

Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Net cash fiow

Fixed assets
Custamer relationships
Brands

Tangble assels

Current assets
Trade and other recewablas
Cash and cash eguivalents

Total assets

Trade and other payables
Carporation tax payable
Deferred tax tiability

Net Assets
Goodwill

Total purchase consideration

Notes Book Vatlue
£'000

16 -
16 _
17 62

897
4.254

Adjustments
£'000

7.258
501

£'000

7.690
7,922
477
268

16,385

7 690
7.922
266

15878
(4 254}
11.624

Fair Value
£'000

7.258
501
62

837
4254

5213
(1.271)
{294)
(57)

(1474)

12,972

(1.271)
(294)
(1.531)

3.5
16

6.285

9.876
6.479
16.355
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3.2  Acquisition of Chamonix Group (continued)
Contribution by the acquired business for the reporting penod since acquisiban
2020
£'000
Turnover 473
Profit 178
Upon acquisiion. the business had net assets with a fair value of £9 876k Inciuded in the fair value
adjustments are the reccgntion of intanghble assets relating to the acquired business's customer
relationships and brand dentified and its fair value was measured at £7.258k and £501k respectively A
deferred tax liability of £1,474k has been recognised on the intangible assels which has been added to
goodwil
The goodwiil of £6 479k from the acguwsiton is attributabie to the expertise and expenence of the workforce
acquired, the customer relatonships and economies of scale expected from combining the operations into
the Group Management has estimated the useful ife of the goodwill to be 20 years
The customer relatonships intangible asset has been atinbuted a useful Iife of 10 years and brands
intangible asset has been attributed a useful life of 5 years The useful ife 1s based on the penod of when
the majority of the value is generated
4 Turnover
An analysis of the group's turnover is as follows
Year ended . 7 month
period ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
£'000 £'000
Turnover by category
Residential property management services 55 375 18.443
Commercial property and asset management 8.415 -
QOther revenue 2,896 958
66.786 13,401
Other revenue relates to insurance commissions and consultancy revenue
All turnover is generated in the UK
5 Cost of sales

Cost of sales anse due to the acquisition of Mainstay's commercial praperty mangement business and
residential fachities management business Cost of sales recogmised in relation to the residential facilitites
management business 15 where the Group considers itself to be principal rather than agent in providing on-
site staff

As cost of sales anly takes the above costs info consigeration gross profit shown shauld not be used when
trying te determine the profitability of the Group
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Year ended T month

6 Exceptional items ear ende period ended
31 December 31 December

2020 2018

£'000 £'000

Transactionat costs a07 1.941
Restructure costs 1.546 -

Other exceplicnal tems I3 182

2,784 2,123

Transactional costs mainly relate to one-off costs imeurred on the acquisiicn of Mainstay and Chamonix
such as professional fees and integration costs

Restructure costs incurred as a result of restructunng the Group due to COVID-19 and the Mainstay
acguisiton

Other exceptional items largely relate to cne off costs associated with dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic
and relale to personal protective equipment Included in other excepbonal items are costs i relation to
exiting the London Bridge office and legacy costs associated with the acquisiion of Knight Square Holdings
Limited Group in 2019

In 2018 exceptional charges related to e acquisibon of Knight Square Holdings Limited Group

7 Other Operating Income

An analysis of the other operating Income is as follows:
7 month
period ended
3t December 31 December

Year ended

2020 2019

£'000 £000
R&D expenditure credi 186 -
Government grani 286 -
672 -

R&D expenditure credd relates to an R&D tax claim made on the Group's development of its digiial project

Government grant relates to the UK Government's Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS). The Group
furlpughed employees in hne with the CJRS and recegnised £286k in the year as income There are no
contingencies attached to the CJRS
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8 Operating loss

Operating loss for the year / penod 1s stated after charging-

Deprecration of owned tangible assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of tangible asseis
Operating iease charges

9 Adjusted EBITDA

Operating loss reconciles to adjusted EBITDA as foliows

QOperating loss

Depreciation of owned tangible assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Loss on disposal of tangible assets
Exceptional tems

Shiare-based payments

Adjusted EBITDA

10 Auditors’ remuneration

Fees payabte to the Company's auditors and their associates

Fees payable 1o the Company's auditors for the audit of the
Parent Company and the Group's Consokdated financial
statements

Fees payable to the Company's auditors for other services
- The audit of the Company's subsidianes

- Audit reiated assurance services

- Tax compliance services

- Tax agvisary services

- Other services

Total amount payable to the Company's auditors and its associates

Year ended

31 December

7 month
period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£'000 £'000
1.84% 655

10,421 2,920
55
3451 1.095
Year ended 7 month

31 December

period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£'000 £'000
(1.693) (2,238)
1,849 655
10.421 2920
55 -
2784 2.123
68 -
13 484 3,460
Year ended 7 month

34 December

period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

422 45
12 2414
31 5
22 95
129 115
& 7
622 510
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1"

12

Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the group and company during
the year was

2020 2019
Number Number
Office and management 1539 790
House managers and depubes 2.260 2.309
3.799 3.099
Their aggregate remuneralion comprised
Year ended 7 month

period ended
31 December 31 Decemher

2020 2019
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 33.534 12 450
Sccial secunty costs 3.350 2.503
COther pension costs (note 27) 1283 346
Share-based payments 68
Total aggregate remuneralion hefore capiaksed costs 38 237 15 299
Less capitalised costs (790) (159)
Aggregate remuneration charged to profit and loss 37 447 15.140

Hause managers are emptoyed by the Group to oversee individual developments marnaged by the Group
The emptoyment cost of house managers 15 nol included i the above table as these cosls are recharged at
cos! lo the developments managed by the Grous and therefore are not a cost (o the Group on account of the
Group be:ng an agent for this transacticn These amounted to wages and salary costs of £38.912k (2019
£12,088k) social securnily costs of £2,.902k (2019 £886k) and ather pansion costs of £1.232k (2019 £355k).

During the year ended 31 December 2020. the Group capilalised wages and salaries of £684k (2018,
£134k). sociat secunty cost of £75k (2019 18k} and other pension cost of £31k (2019 Sk} Captalised
wages forms part of the cost of internally developed software.

Directors' remuneration

7 month
period ended
31 December 31 December

Year ended

2020 ’ 2018

£000 £°000
Aggregate remunerations 1.020 266
1.020 266

The number of directors for whom retirement benefits are accrumg under defined benefit schemes amounied
0 one (2019 none)

4 drectars were paw by the Group dunng the year The remaining dwectors did not receive fees The
emagiuments disclosed above are from the date which the indwidua! became a direclor of the Company
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12

13

Directors’ remuneration {continued}

Ramuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid te the highest paid director

Year ended

31 December

7 month
period ended
31 December

2020 2018
£'000 £'000
Aggregate emofuments 565 146
565 146
Company
The Company has no employees (2019 nonej
Interest payable and similar expenses
Interest an financiat habities measured at amortised cost
Year ended 7 month

31 December

period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 5557 1.643
Interest an finance teases and hire purchase contracts - 3
Interest on shareholder ioans 5,604 1622
Leoan fee amorhisation 588 161
11.749 3429

Debt issue costs, ncluding loan amortisation fees which are directly incurred 10 arrangement of borrowing
facilties are included within the talcutation of the effective interest rate on the borrowing out are disclosed
separately as the Group consider this information aids n the understanding of the total inancing costs
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14 Share-based payments

During the current year and prier period. certain emptoyees of the Group subscnibed for a total of 23,208 B
Ordinary Shares in the Company The B Ordinary Shares were issued in order to incentivise the holders to
grow the value of the Group

I the event that a holder of B Ordinary Shares leaves the employment of the Group. the Company has the
right but not the obligation to require the haolder to transter therr 8 Ordinary Shares to an employee of the
Group ar an employee trust established for the benefit of employees of the Group.

The price that a holder of B Ordinary Shares receives for such a transfer depends upon nler alia the date on
which the holder leaves and the manner 1n which they leave. The price vanes between the "fair price’ of the
shares (this being a price determined by the transfercr and remuneration committee or, in the absence of
agreement, an independent expert) and the price the holder paid for the share

In alf other respects the B Ordinary Shares rank pari passu with the A Ordinary Shares of the Company (the
only other class of shares in 1ssue} as regards voling nghts nights to dividends and rights on a return of
capdal

The issue of the B Ordinary Shares has been accounted for as an equity settled share-based payment
arrangement in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1 13

The farr value of the shares 1ssued under this arrangement has been measured by reference to the expected
future vatue of the Group at an assumed exit date, this baing the date of sale, asset sale. hstng or winding-
up The mam steps in the valuation approach were as follows

« Step 1 - estimating the enterpnse value of the Group af the date the B Ordinary Shares were 1ssued

« Step 2 - simulating the future enterprise value of the Group using a Mote-Carlo valuation mode! through to
the assumed exit date;

« Step 3 - derving the value attnbutable to the holders of the A Ordinary Shares and B Ordinary Shares of the
Company by deducting net debt at the assumed exit date,

+ Step 4 - allacating the proportion of the equity vaiue to the B Ordinary Shares

+ Step 5 - discounting the equity value back to the date the B Qrdinary Shares were issued using the risk-free
rate and expected iime to the assumed exit dale

For the penod ended 31 December 2019 no accounting charge was recognised in reiation 10 the above
described share-Dased payment arrangement as the amount was considered immatenal Durning the year
ended 31 December 2020 the Group has recognised a total expense of £68k in profit ar loss This comprises
a catch up charge of £12k 1n relation to the prior period and a charge of £56k for the current year
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15

Tax on loss

Current tax
UK corporation tax on taxable loss for the currenl year
Adjustrents in respect of pnor pencds

Total current tax {credd) / charge
Deferred tax
Onigination and reversal of hming differences

Adjustments in respect of pnor periods
Effect of tax rate change on epening balance

Total deferred tax

Totaltax charge for the year

Year ended

31 December

7 month
period ended
31 December

2020 2019

£000 £'000
- 9
{459) -
(459 9
{606) 116
545 -
1.156 (53)
1.095 63
636 72

The charge for the year can be reconciled te the loss before taxation per the profit and Icss account as

faliows.

Less before taxation

Expected tax credit based on a corporation tax rate of 19% (2019 19%)

Non-deductible expenses

Effect of changes in tax rates and laws

Income not taxable for tax purposes

R&D expendilure credils

Adjustments in respect of pricr periods

Adjustments in respect of pricr penods {deferred 1ax)
Transfers

Total tax charge for the year

Year ended

31 December

7 month
period ended
3t December

2020 2019
£'000 £'000
{13442 (5.667)
(2.554; (1077
2180 1202
1156 153}
(2 -
(73) -
{459) .
545
(167)
636 72

in the Spring Budget 2021 the Gavernment anncunced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate will
ncrease to 25% Since the proposal fo Increase the rate to 25% had not been substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date. s effects are not included in these financial siatements However 1t is Iikely that the
overall effect of the change, had it been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date, would be to
increase the tax expense for the year by £3 598k and to increase the deferred tax lability by £3 598k

Deferred tax balances at 3t December 2020 were measured at 18% (2013 19%) for items thal are
expected to be charged or crediled to the profit and loss account in the next financial year
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16

Intangible assets

Group

Cost Note
Balance at 1 January 2020

Additions

Additions from acquisition of Mainstay 31

Additions from acquisition of Chamanix 3.2

Balance at 31 December 2020

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2020
Amorlisation charge for the year

Balance at 31 December 2020

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020

Al 31 December 2019

Goodwill Software  Customer Brands Totai
List
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
51.998 5568 56.632 7722 121.920
- 8 555G - - B.556
17,202 11,602 3.16% 31,965
6479 7,258 501 14 238
75679 14 124 75,492 11.384 176 679
g§23 59 793 245 2.920
2878 487 6173 BY3 10.421
3.701 556 7. 986 1118 13 341
71978 13 568 67.526 10.265 163.338
51,175 5 509 54 839 7477 115.000

Included in tota! cost of software £12.787k has been classified as assets under construction as at 31 December 2020

(2019 £4,246k)

The Company had no mangible assets at 31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019
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Tangible assets

Group

Cost

Baiance at 1 January 2620

Additions from acquisition of Mainstay
Additicns from acquisibon of Chamonix
Additicns

Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2020
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2020

Depreciation charged in the year
Disposals

Ralance at 31 December 2026

Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2020

Balance at 31 December 2019

Office equipment,
fixtures & fittings
Note £'000

3766

31 537
3.2 62
875

(210)

5,130

655
1.849
(155)

2.349

2781

3111

The Company had no tangible assets at 31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019
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18 Investment in subsidiaries

Graup Group Company Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Total investment in subsidianes - - 162 94
Movements in investments
Company £'000
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 94
Capital contributions made to subisidiaries 68
Balance at 31 December 2020 162
Carsying amount
Balance at 31 December 2020 162
Balance at 31 December 2019 94

Investment in substchanes heid by the Company can be found in note 35

Capital contributions made to substdiaries in the year arise as a result of share-based payments charges to
employees in the subsidiary entties The obligation to seftle the transaction with the emplayees of subsidiary
undertakings is recognised as a capital contrbution made to those subsidiaries by increasing the cost of
mvestment In subsidiary undertakings as the subsidiaries recognises the charge for share based payment
awards in profit or loss See note 1 13 for further details

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments 1s not maore than therr recoverable amount as
supportad by therr underlying assets
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20

Financial instruments

2020 2019
Note £'000 £000
Financial assets measured at amonrtised cost
Trade debtors 20 2643 1490
Other dabtors 20 895 722
Cash at bank and in hang 7.585% 4.558
Accrued income 828 578
12,051 7448
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Trade crediors 22 3.181 2167
Other creditors 22 3,307 2.121
Accruals 3,980 7078
Bank loans 24 97,700 64 200
Shareholder toans - principat 24 61.431 51036
interest on sharehalder loans 24 7,221 1822
Deferred financing costs 24 (4,246) (2,943)
172 554 125.281
Debtors
Group Group Company Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 2643 1.490 - -
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 318
Corporation tax recoverable 14786 593
Other debtors 995 722
Prepayments and accrued income 3757 2.508 -
8.871 5313 318 -

Trade debtors are stated after provisions for impairment of £413k (2019 £91k}

Arnounts owed by Group underiakings are unsecured interest free. have no fixed date of repayment and are

repayable on demand
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24 Client monies

Residents' net cash balances held i trust accounts at 31 December 2020 were £338.182k (2019 £250.318k)
Cash balances held in joint accounts at 31 December 2020 were £4 604k (2019. £6,307k)

22 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Group Company Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

£000 £'000 £000 £'000

Trade creditors 3.161 2167 - -
Amounis owed to group underiakings - - 268 -
Cther creditors 3,307 2121 - -
Corperation tax payable 445 - R .
Qther taxation and social security 8153 2.380 - .
Accruals and deferred income 9,522 7.078 1 -
24,588 13,748 269 -

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured interest free. have no fixed date of repayment and are

repayable on demand

23 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Group Company Company
2020 2019 2020 2018
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Bank loans and overdrafts (net of financing costs) 24 93 454 61257 -
Shareholder toans 24 61.431 31038 - -
Interast on shareholder loans 24 7221 1622 -
162,106 113915 - -
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24

Borrowings

Bank ioans

Shareholder loans - principal
Interest on shareholder loans
Deferred financing costs

Payabie after one year

Bank loans

The Group has a £105 2m bank facility cempnsing of the following

Bank facility term schedule

Group

Term foan facility B1
Term loan facility B2

Term ioan acguisthon/capex facility

Revolving facility
Addibonal Super Semor Facility
Additional Unitranche Facility

Second Additicnal Unitranche Facility

Group Group Company Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
97.700 84 200 - .
61.431 51,036 - -
7.221 1622 - -
(4,246) {2.943}) - -
162,106 113,915 - -
162,106 113915
Nominal Termination Repayment Credit
interest rate date pay Facility
£'000
LIBOR + 2 25% 09-0ct-25 At termination date 12,100
LIBOR + 8% 09-Apr-26 Attermination date 52.100
LIBOR + 8% 09-Apr-26 At termination date 10 000
LIBOR + 2 25% 09-Oct-25 At termination date 7.500
LIBOR + 3% 09-Oct-25 At termination date 4,000
LIBOR + 7 75% 09-Apr-26 At termination date 7.000
LIBOR + 6 75% 09-Apr-26 At termination date 12.500
145,200

The revolving facility remains undrawn as at 31 December 2020

Interest on the faciity 1s cash settied on a six monthly basis A commitment fee 1s charged on the undrawn

amount on a three monthty basis,

The facility is held by FirstPort Linuted and s secured agamst the shares and assets of Knight Square

Limited and its subsidiaries

The financial coverants attached to the £105 2m bank facilly were tested as at year end Comphance with
covenants In respect of the external bank debt has been assessed to June 2022 with no breaches forecast

The nominal interest rate in the table above 15 canditional and depends on the financial performance of the
Graup The current rate disclosed 1s based on the current financial performance
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24 Borrowings (continued)
Shareholder loans

The Group has one class of sharehoider igan nate instrument in 1ssue at the balance sheet date Dunng the year the Group
sssued a further £10.452,413 of shareholder ioan notes to finance the acqustion of Mainstay The loan notes are isted on
The International Stock Exchange As atthe 21 Dacember 2020 the Dnve Topco Employee Banefit Trust helds €64k of
shareholder toan notes (2019 £nil} which 1s consolidated in the Group and Company financial statements See note 1 7 for
further detalls

The principal outstanding on the shareholder lcan notes in the Group as at 31 December 2020 was £61 431k {2019
£51 038k} and have been provided by the fallowing parties

2020 2019

- Accrued  Interest Interest . Accrued Enterest
Principa!l . Principal .

interest paid expense interest  expense
£'000 £000 E'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Equistone Partners Europe Limied 59 307 G978 - 5 406 49 451 1,572 1572
Management 2124 243 {5) 198 1575 50 50
61,431 720 (5 5604 51036 1,822 1622

tnlerest 13 payable on the outstanding balance at a rale of 10% of the prnaipal accrued on a daily basis  Interest on the
Shareholder Loan Notes can be settled annually on 6 September by at the Group s oplton either the issue of Payment in
Kind {PIK) Notas which rank ahead of the onginal nates of by deferral mwhich case compound interest waill agply 1o the
amount defarred

Repayment of the Shareholder Loan Notes s due on the sarhar of U September 2028 or on exit

Deterred financing caosts

Deferred financing costs are amortised over the penod of the revolving cred! facrity which makes up the effective interest
rate

25  Provisions for liabilities

Group Company Group Company

2020 2020 2019 2019

Note £°000 £'000 £000 £900

Development related provisians 542 - 538 .

Defarred tax habiities 26 15131 - 9615 -
15673 . 10,153
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26

Provisions for liabilities (continued)

Movements on development relaled provisions
Development

related

provisions

Group Naote £'000
Balance at 1 January 2020 538
On acquisition 31 205
Additional provisions i the year 691
Release of provisions In the year (171}
Utiksation of provision {(721)
Balance at 31 Decembper 2020 542

The Group manages a farge number of commercial and residential groperty devetopments. which give nise to
some disputes and claims by customers under the management contracts that govern them  These claims
can take many years 10 emerge so management considers it appropriate to recognise a prowision These
provisions require management's best estmate of the costs that widl be incurred based on legislative and
contractual requirements. In addibion, the tming of the cash flows and the discoun! rates used to estabhsh
net present value of {he obhgations reguire management's judgement

Whilst significant progress has been made in addressing these claims and management conlinue to assess
them on their merls, a provision of £542k (2019 E£538k} has been recognised at the year end This is
expected to be utlised over a period of up to five years. with an estimated £461k (2019 £308k) expected to
be settied within the next financial year

Deferred taxation

Deterred tax assets and labilities are offset where the Group or company has a legally enforceatle nght to
do so The following 1s the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for hinancial reporting purposes

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2020 2020 2019 2019

Group E'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Fixed asset hming differences - {16.602) - (9.684)
Short-term timing differences 73 - . (20)
Non-trading timng differences - - 60 -
Losses 1434 - 61 -
investment progery - (36) - (32)
1507 (16,638} 121 {9.736)

64



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

26

27

Deferred taxation (continued)

Group Company

Note £'000 £'600
Movements in the year;
Liabifity at 1 January 2020 (9.615)
On acquisition of Mainstay 31 (2.890% -
On acquisition of Chamonix 3.2 {1.531) -
Charge to profit and loss account (1.09%) -
Liability a1 31 December 2020 (15,131} -

The net deferred 1ax liability expected to reverse in 2021 is £1.782k (2019 £1.146k) This pnmarily relates 1o
the reversal of iming gifferences on capital allowances

The Group dees nol have any unrecogrised deferred 1ax assel for losses carned forward

Company

The Company has no defecred tax provision at 31 Decamber 2420 12049 nily

Retirement benefit schemes

2020
£000
Defined contribution schemes
Chasge to profit and loss account 1,285

2019
£400

348

The Group sponsors and contributes to a defined contrbution scheme for 1 employess Pension contributions sulstanging

and included i accruals at the year end amounted to £5% tk (2019, £356k)
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29

Called up share capital and other reserves

Group and company Group and company
Calted up Share  Treasury Called up Share  Treasury
share premium shares share  premium Shares
capital account reserve capitat account Reserve
2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
£000 £'000 £'000 E'000 £'000 £000
Ordinary share capital
Issued and fuliy paid
98 460 (2019 80 000) A Crdinary shares of £0 01 1 115 - 1 g
24,815 (2019 14.00C) B Ordinary shares of £0 01 . 28 3 , 14
Acquisition of shares by EBT N . (4 . R .
Settlement of shares by EBT members . . [
1 144 (1} 1 93

A and B Ordinary shares carry one vote per share Al classas of shares have a neminat value of £0 G1 have the ngnt 1o recave
dividends and a 1ight {o return of capital

On 16 January 2020, the Company issued 1 500 ‘B’ Ordinary shares al £1 per share to management

Qn 15 Aprl 2020 the Company 1ssued 2 500 '8 Ordinary shares at £1 per share 1o management

On 15 Seprembet 2020, the Company rssued 18,460 A Ordinary shares and 4 615 ' B Ordinary shares at £1 85 per share 1o finance
the Mainstay acquisiban

On B Apr! 2020 the Company issuet t 400 "B’ Ordinary shares at £1 per share to the EBT Tnese were allocated to and seltied by
emp‘oyees at £1 per share

In 2020 the EBT acquired 1 750 '8 Cranary shares at £1 per share and 1 40C ‘B’ Crdinary shares at £1 95 per share from
management

On 21 December 2020. the Company issued 600 B’ Qrdinary shares at £1 95 per share o the EBT Following this, 2 343 8
Ordinary shares were 1ssued (o and seltled by emplovees at £1 95 per share

The amount within the Treasury shares reserve represents shares held by the EBT that have not yet been issued to employees
The Company recognises a credit relating 1o equity-setlied share-based paymenis into share-based payment reserve This is not a

igahsed proft and thus 1s 3 non-disinbutable reserve Fos the year ended 34 Decemoer 2020 1his amounied (o E68k which mgiudes
£132k from tne 2019 pericd See note 14 for further details

Operating lease commitiments

At the reporting end date the Group and company had cutstanging commitments for futare minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operabng leases which fali due as follows

Group Company Group Company
2020 2020 2018 2019
€000 £'000 £:000 £000
Wilhun one year 1820 . 1400
Between two and five years 1492 - 1027
In over five years 386 - & -
3888 - 2.433 -
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31

32

Contingent liabilities

The Group s panty to a Group Oebenture securad aver all of s assets in favour of Lucid Trustee Services Limited as a
Security Agent acting on behalf of NatvWest and Pemberlon. The Borrower is FirstPort Limited, a subsidiary company The
lcan balance excluding deferred financing cost. and accrued interest payable outstanding at the balance sheet date were
£97.700k and £1,205k respeclively

A number of bank accounts maintained for developments under management (and included in Client Monies described in
nole 19) were overdrawn at 31 December 2020 amounting to £772 (2019, £2,672). The Group have given unlimited
guarantzes on these amounts in the event ¢! defaull,

Events after the balance sheet date

There have been no events after the balance sheet data that have taken place that has matenally alfected the Group

Related parties
Group

Equstang Pardnars Curope Limiled and the funds managed by Equistone Parners Eutope Limited registered m England
and Wales. are regarded as related parties due 1o their sharehalding in the Company. ther provision of shareholder loans to
the Group. and their representation an the board of Directars. which gives them sigrificant influence aver the Company and
Group

The key management persannai of the Group are considered to be the Directors of the Company and cerlain senior
management employees of the Group A number of the key management personnel have also provided funding to the
Group via shareheider loans and are shareholders ot the Company

Transactions with related parties

The funds managed by Equistone Partners Europe Limiled and key management personnel are holders of Shareholder
Lean Notes. which are included (n Borrowings and ncur snterest expense Details of these transachons and balances are
shown in note 22

Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneraton of key management pErsonnet, which mciuges thoss direclors remunerated by the Group 15 as follows

Yearended Year ended

2020 2019
E'000 £'000
Aggregate emaluments 1072 590
Other pension cosls 7 1
079 591
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32  Related parties (continued)

Company

The Companys anly refated party transactons i the year were with wholly owned subsidianes and so have not been disclosed Al
balances in the current penod were with whaolly owned subsmiaries

33 Controlling party

In the opimion of the directars the ultimate controling party s funds managed by Equistone Partners Europe Limited Equistone
Pariners Eurgpe Limited 1s registered in England ang Wales

Crive Topto Limited is the parent undertaking of the largesl and smaliest group of undertakings for which group financial statemenls
are prepared

The consolidated financial statements of Drive Topeo Lwnited are avalabie fom Companies House Crown Way Maindy, Cardiff

4 Result of the company for the financiat year
As permitied by sechion 408 of the Companwes Act 2006 the Company's profit and ioss accouni nas nat been meluded in these
finarcial statements  The Company made a profit of £4k i the financial year (2019 £nily

35 Subsidiaries
Details of the company's subsidiartes at 31 Decemnber 2020 are as follows
Name of undertaking and country of incorporation or Nature of Registered % Held
residency business Postocode

Direct indiract

Amenity Praperty (Avon Meagows England & VWales
Bidford) Limited No 08641151 Dormant WRES 22X 100 0Q
Amenty Property {Britannia Mews England & Wales
Telford) Limited No 09361898 Doarmant WRS5 2Z% 100 00
Amenily Property (Caliy Blue Fields England & Wales
Stockton) Limited No 10461397 Dormant WRS 27X +0G 00
Amenity Property (Entech House England & Wales
Woolmer Grean) Lirmited No 12063981 Dormant WRS 22X 100 00
Amenily Properly (Himigy View England & Wales
Dudley) Limied No 08368398 Dormamt WRS 22X 100.00
Amenty Praperty (Hugesleah Place England & Wares
Hightey) Limited No 08792989 Dormant WRS5 2ZX 136 00
Amenity Properly (Levett Grange England & Wales
Rugeley) Limited No 067638525 Dormant WRS5 2ZX 100 00
Amanity Property (Lockside Walk England & Wales
Bnerley Hil) Lirmited No (9043188 Dormant WIRS 22X 100 00
Amenity Property {Melient Gardens England & Wales
Bedworth} Limited No 12685871 Dormant VRS 22X 10000
Amemty Property (Miltbrook Park England & Wales
Landon Phase 4A) Limitad No 10385756 Bormant WR5 22X 100 00
Ameny Property {(Millorook Park Engiand & Wales
London Phase 4C) Limited No 11824467 Dormant WRS 2ZX 100 0
Amemty Property (Milers Reach England & Wales
Stong} uimited No G§2451186 Dormant VYRS 22X 100 00
Amenty Property (Oakieigh Grove England & Wales
Whetstone) Limited No 10704287 Dormant WRS5 22X 100 00
Amenity Proparty (Pennywell Walk, England & Wales
upton Upon Savern) Limied No 10030643 Darmant WRS 27X 100 g0
Amenity Property (Postmark London)  England & Wales
Limited No 12002086 Cormant WRS 22X 100 00

CF4 3UZ or from the Company's reqistered office at Quesnsway House 11 Queensway. New Milton Hampshire, UK BH25 SNR
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35

Subsidiaries {continued}

Name of undertaking and country of incerporation or

residency

Amenty Propeny {Preedy Piace
Badsey) Limitad

Amenity Property (Pnory Gardens.
Market Orayton) Limded

Amenly Propeny [Saddlers
Brook Walsah) Lirmted

Amenity Property {Scariett Oaks
Shifnal) Limited

Amenity Propeny (Sherford
Piymouth Parcel B) Limited
Amerily Praperty (Sherford
Plymouth Parcet F) Limited
Amegnity Property (Sherford
Blymautn Parcel G) Limited
Amenity Property (Shefford
Plymouth Parcet I} Limited
Amenity Property (Sherford
Plymouth Parcal Ly Limited
Amenity Praperty (Sherford
Plymouth Parcal M) Limited
Amenity Propery (Sherfard
Plymouth Parcel §) Lirmitad
Amenity Property (The
Hathaways Stratferd) Limited
Amenity Properny (Thomas
Baddoes Court Shifnal) Limited
Amenity Property (Walmley Croft
Sutton Coldheld) Limited
Amentty Property (Woodland
View Caventry) Limitad
Amenity Property Holdings
Limnied

Baker Sincfair Limied

Balfour Homes Management
Limied

Brook Farm Count Managemant
Limited

Cavend sh Managemant
(Noowch) Limited

CE Antnony Nalzan (Farrstead)
Lirmted

CE Blenherm Grange YWatton
Limeted

CE Churchill Gardens
Cambourne Limited

CE Cabbler s Mews Remany
Roag Limnted

CE Lack Ml Blackburmn Lirmited

CE Qakheid Gardens Hyde
Limited

England & Wates Ne
09155288
England & wales No
07633333
England & Wales No
07639422
England & Wales No
10900315
Engfand & Wales No
10838931
England & Waies No
10839975
Engiand & Wales No
10535172
England & Walas No
11454909
Ergland & VWvales No
11454877
England & Wales No
11923138
Engiand & Wales No
10535353
England & Wales Na
09361834
England & wales No
07639356
England & Wales No
10147213
England & waies No
27638382
England & vWales No
07635509
£ngland & Wates No
10306297
Engiand & Wales No
01986825
£ngland & Wales No
02368738
Engiand & Waies No
01831847
England & Wates Na
08354199
England & Waies No
0606757¢
Engtand & Wales No
06453105
England & Wates No
06022581
England & Wales No
06346923
Engiand & Wales No
06406964

Nature of business

Barmant
Darmant
Dormant
Darmant
Oormant
Dormant
Oormant
Dormant
Carmant
Dotnint
Donmant
[BZATTINTIN
Darmant
Cormant
Darmant
Dormant
Cormant
Non-trading
Dorrant
Doronant
Dormant
Oormam
Dormant
Bormant
Dormant

Sormant

Registered % Held
Postcode
Direct Indirect

WRS 2ZXK 106G 00
WRSE 2ZX 106 00
WRS 27X 100 G0
WRS5 2ZX 100 00
VRS 22X 19000
WRS 272X 100 00
WWRS 272X 19000
WRS 2ZX 100 00
WIRE 22X 100 00
WRS 2ZX 19000
WRS5 22X 106G 00
WRS5 27X 100 00
WRS 2ZX 109G 00
WRS 27X 100 00
WRE 22X 10000
WRS 22X 100 00
SG3RU 100 0G
BH25 SNR 100 00
BH25 5MR +00 00
BH25 SNR 10300
SGI0RU 100 00
5G4 ORU 100 00
SGAQRU 100 02
5G9 0RU 160 00
5G9 O0RU 100 00
5GS ORU 100 00
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35 Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incarporation  Nature of business

or residency

CE Poppy Fields
{Benwck) Limited
CLC Trec Hawthorns
Blackley Limited

CE Willow Grange Ely
Lirited

Chamanix Estates
Developments Limied

Chamonix Estates Limited

Chamomx Groop Limuted

Chamonix Holdings
Limited

Consarn Property
Management Limned

Onve Bidco Limited

Drive Midco Limited

Edgewood Management
Services Limiled

Edgewaood Retrement
Developments Limited

Farfield Campany
Secratanes Lumited

Ferndale Retirement
Maragement Limited

FirstPort Bespoke
Property Serwices bimued

FirstPort HMF Limited

FirstPort Insurance
Services Limited

FirstPort Investment
Fropertes Limiled

FirstPon Limited
FurstPort Operations FD
Limited

FirstPont Property
Services Limited
FirstPort Praperty
Services No 2 Limited
FirstPort Property
Services Mo 3 Limited
FirstPort Property
Services No 4 Limited
FirstPort Property
Services Mo 5 Limited
FirstPart Praperty
Services Scotland Limited
FustPort Retrement
Lirited

Engiand & Wales Na
015353915
LCngland 8 Wales No
06443043

England & Wales No
06057352
England & Wales No
10821470
England & Wales No
05851267

England & Vales No
05856372

England & Wales No
12500321

England & Waies No
03479620

England & ‘Wales No
12043128

England & Vales No
12043082

Engtand & Wales No
42948602

England & Wates No
02086525

Engiand & Wales No
05988785

England & VWales No
01709679

England & vvales No
01623486

England & Wales No
06776352

cngiand & Wales No
43479579

Engtand & Wales No
04352393

England & Wales No

' 04352396

England & Wafes No
06277828
England & Wales No
02061041
England & Wales No
02231158
England & Wales No
4352415
Engtand & Wales No
07298764
England & Wales No
05876680
England & Wates ha
03829468

England & Wales No
03479623

Darmant

Dormant

Darmant
Bormant

Property Management

Property Management

Property Management
Oormant

Prowisron of shared
services

Holding company
Non-trading
Nen-trading

Property Management
Dormant

Property management
Investment property
Insurance services
Dormant

Provision of shared
services

Investment propefty
Property management
Proparty management
Darmant

Property management
Property management

Praperty management

Dormant

Registered
Postcode
SG8 ORU

5G9 0RU

$G2 ORY

5G2 0RU

SG% 0RU

8G9 0RY

SGIORU

BH25 58R
BH25 5NR
BH25 SNR
BH25 5NR
BH25 5NR
5G9 0RU

BH25 SNR
BH25 SNR
BH25 SNR
BH25 SNR
BH2S5 SNR
BHZ25 5NR
BH25 SNR
BH25 5MR
BH25 SNR
BH25 5NR
BH25 5NR
BH25 S5NR
BH25 S5MR

BH25 SNR

% Held

Direct

106 00

Indirect

100 00

100 00

10000

100 00

1Q0 Q0

100 00

100 00

100 00

10040

100 Q0

00 00

100 00

100 80

100 00

10000

10C 00

100 00

100 00

100 08

0000

100 00

10009

100 00

100 GO

100 00

10000
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a5

Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incorporation Nature of business

or residency

FustPort Retirement

Property Services Limiled

FirstPort Secretanal
Limited

FirsiPort Services Limided

Ground Rent Services
Limsted

King Gearge Count
Management Linuted

Knight Mideo Limited

Knight Square Holdings
Limited

Kmght Square Limied

Longhurst Drive
Managament Company
Limied

Maclaren Managemeant
Services Limited

Mainstay (Secretanes)
Limited

Mainstay Facilities
Management Limited

Mamnstay Group Limited

Mainstay Payments
Lirmiied

Mamnstay Residentral
Limited

Matterdate Gardens
Management Limited

Maybeck Collectons
Limpted

Mendian Homes Limited

Mendan New Homes
Linited

Merdian Propery Group

{imited

Merndian Retrement
Homes timiled

Merichan Retirement

Housing Services Limited

Mint Property
Management Limuted

MRML Limited

QM Nominee Services
Limited

O Property Managemant

Limited

England & ales No
016148686
England & Wales No
05806647
England & Wales No
09142979
England & Waies No
09804654
Engtand & Waies Nao
03175135
Engtand & Wales No
07927619
England & Wales Na
07925023
England & Wales Nao
07825018

England & Wales N¢
11418290
England & Wales No
02142118
England & Wales No
04458912
England & Walss No
03340210
England & Waies No
04002715
England & Wales No
04771082
England & Vvales No
04052477
Engiand & Vvales No
02405973
England & Wales No
04052424
England & Vales No
01972727
England & Wales No
02682974
England & Wales No
02306958
England & Wales No
01885185
Englang & Wales No
01833177
England & Wales No
03643630
England & Wales No
03904173
Englari & Wales No
06695871
Engiand & Wales Na
08143096

Property management
Dotmant

Dormant

Oormant

Non-trading

Holding company
Holding company
Provision of shared
senvices

Darmani

Dormnant

Darmiant

Praperty Managament
Property Management
Dormant

Property Management
Non-trading

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Non-trading

Dormant

Dormant

Nan-trading

Dormant

Dormant

Darrnant

Reygistered

Postcode

BH23 SNR

BH25 GMNR

BHZ23 5NR

SGICORU

BH25 SNR

BH23 5NR

BH25 SNR

BHZ23 SNR

SG9CRU

BH25 5NR

WRE 22X

WRS 22X

WRS 22X

WRE 27X

WRS 22X

BH25 SNR

WRS 22X

BH25 SNR

BH25 5NR

BH2Z5 5NR

BH25 5NR

BH25 5MR

BH25 SNR

WRS 22X

BH25 5NR

BH25 3NR

Birect

% Held

Indirect

100 00

10000

100 00

100 0C

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 a0

100 00

100 00

100 Q0

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

160 00

100 00

100 00

106 00

106 06

100 g

100 00

100 00

100 0

100 00

71



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

kL3

Subsidiaries {continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incorporation  Nature of business

or residency

OM Property Management England & Wales Na.

Ne 2 Limitad
Pegasus Court
(Abergavenny)
Management Limied
Fagasus Court

tBarnwood) Management

Limited

Pegasus Court {Bourton-

an-the-Yvatear)

09375984

Engtand & Wales No.
02285749

England & Wales No,
02313505
England & Wales No,
02285752

Pegasus Court (Broadway) England & Wales No.

Management Limited
Pegasus Coun (Fleet)
Management Limited

Pegasus Court (Paignton}

Management Limidted
Pegasus Court
Cheltenham
{Management} Lrmited

Pegasus Court Harlley

Wintnay (Management)

Limsted

Pegasus Court
Managerment Limited
Pegasus Thamesnorth
Management Limitad

Pembertans Maintenance
Trustees (Aldlord House)

Liomited

Sempertons Residental

Limited

Peverel Bulding
Technologies Limited
Pevere! Managemeni
Services Limited
Peverel Property
Management Limited

Peverel Scotiand Limited

Peverel Services Limited

R C (Holdings) Limited

R C Housing Limited

Renaissance Management

Services Limited

Retirement Care
{Southern) Limited

Retirement Care Group

Lid

Retrement Care Limitad

2392014
England & Wales Na.
02318677

Engiand & Wales No,
02382342

England & Wales No.
01867554

England & Wales No.
02125138

Engkand & Walas No.,
02516929
England & Wales No,
02636137

England & Wales No.
05111218

England & Wales MNo.
03375869

England & Wales No.
09221891
Engtand & Wales No,
08142759
England & Wailes No.
09146176
England & Wates No.
09145223
England & Wales No
09146279
England & YWales No
02968054
England & Wales No
11012025
Eagiand & Wales No
(3404510
England & Wales No
02486317
Engiand & Wales No
02195300

England & Wales No
01708784

Qormant

Dermant

Dormant
Bormant
Oormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Bormant

Dormant

Dormant

Carmant

Dormamt

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Halding company
Property management
MNan-trading
Mon-trading
Investment property

Dormant

Registered
Postcode

BH25 SNR

BH25 5NR

Bri25 SNR
BH25 5NR
BH25 SNR

BH25 5NR

BH25 5MR

BH25 SMR

BH2S 5NR
BH25 5MR

8H25 SNR

BH25 5NR
BH25 SNR
BH25 SNR
BH25 SNR
BH25 5NR
BH25 5MR
BH25 SNR
BH25 SNR
BH25 5NR
BH25 SMR
BH25 5MR
BH25 5NR

BHZS SNR

Direct

% Held

Indirect

100 00

100 00

100 00

130G GO

100 Q0

160 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

140 00

100 00

160 00

100 00

1015 00

100 00

10C 00

100 00

10000

100 0¢

108 00
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is Subsidiaries {continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incorporation or Nature of businass Registered % Held
residency Posteade
Direct Indirect
England & Wales No
Retrement Homesearch Lirnited 03829469 Speciahst estate agent  BH25 SNR 100 00
Retirerment Marketing Services  England & Wales No
Lirmitedt 02198442 Dormant BH25 5NR 100 0Q
Sonata Insurance Services England & Wales No
Limited 08704179 Dormant BH25 SNR 106 00
England & Wales No
Stonedale (2012 Limited 06544398 Dormant BH25 SNR 100 0c

The registeree address for subsidranies with the postcode BH25 SNR 15 Queensway House 11 Queensway. New Miton Hampshire,
UK BH25 5MR

The registered address for subsidanes vath the postcode WRS5 22X s Whitnglon Hall Whittinglon Raad  Worcester
Worcestershire UK WRS5 22X

The registerea acdress for subsidianies with the postcode $G9 ORU 15 The Malungs Hyde Hall Farm Sandon Hertfordsture, UK
5G4 0RU

All dorman! campanies are exempt from prepanng individual financial statements it accordance with s394A of Companies Act 2006
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36

Notes to the cash flow statement

2020 2019
£'000 £'000
Qperating loss for the year / period {1.683) (2.238)
Adjusiments far,
Loss an ¢isposal of tangible assets 55 -
Amartisaticn and impairment of intangible assets 10 421 2.920
Depreciation and impawment of tangible assets 1.849 655
Share-based payments 68 -
Movements in working capital
Decrease in debtors 859 1881
Increase / (decrease) in crediors 652 {14.517)
Increase / (decrease) in provision 3 (209)
Cash generated / {used) in operations 12.214 (11.528)
incluged i cash generated from operations of £12 214k 15 cash outfiow relating to exceptional tems of
£3.718k {2019 £1.301k}
Analysis of changes in net debt
At 1 At 31
January Non-cash December
2020 Cash flows Acquired changes 2020
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash at Bank and in hand 4.558 (6 641) 9 858 7.585
Bank loans (64.200) {33 500) - {97.700)
Shareholder [oans - principal {51 036) {10 395) - - (61431
Interest on shareholder loans (1622) 5 - (5.604) (7 221)
Deferred financing costs 2.943 1867 - (564) 4 246
Finance leases 54 {54} R
{109,303} (48.664) 0658 (6.222) 1154.521)

in respect of the non-cash changes. interest on sharehclger loans were deferred at the Group's option

The non-cash change of £564k for deferred financing costs relates to £588k of amortisation offset by £24k

cost to be paid in 2021

The non-cash change of £54k for finance lease relates to the final unwind of finances leases held in 2020.
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